# UNIVERSITÁ DEGLI STUDI DI NAPOLI FEDERICO II DIPARTIMENTO DI AGRARIA



# DOTTORATO IN FOOD SCIENCE XXXIV CICLO

Functional foods for infectious diseases: protective action elicited by a postbiotic derived from cow milk fermentation with *Lacticaseibacillus paracasei* CBAL74 against *Rotavirus* and SARS-CoV-2

**Tutor**: Ch.mo Prof. Roberto Berni Canani **Candidato**: Cristina Bruno

flerea.

Coordinatore: Ch.ma Prof.ssa Amalia Barone

Judio Brae

2020-2021

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# **Brief thesis presentation**

- **1.0 Introduction**
- 1.1 The postbiotic concept
- 1.2 The postbiotic derived from cow milk fermentation with the probiotic L.paracasei CBA L74
- 1.3 Preparation process of the postbiotic
- 1.4 Preclinical evidence on the preventive action against pediatric common infectious diseases
- 1.5 Clinical data on preventive action against pediatric common infectious diseases
- 1.6 Modulatory action on human gut microbiome
- 2.0 Aims of the study
- **3.0 Materials and Methods**
- 4.0 Results
- **5.0 Discussion**
- **6.0** Conclusions
- 7.0 Acknowledgements
- 8.0 References
- 9.0 Tables and Figures
- 10.0 Publications in the last 3 years

# **Brief thesis presentation**

Emerging evidence suggest the efficacy of the postbiotic derived from cow's milk fermentation with the probiotic *Lacticaseibacillus paracasei* CBA L74 (FM-CBAL74) in preventing pediatric infectious diseases.

*Rotavirus* (RV) is a non-enveloped double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) virus that is the leading cause of acute gastroenteritis-associated morbidity and mortality in early childhood. RV is responsible >500.000 deaths and approximately 2.4 million hospitalization in young children worldwide annually.

SARS-CoV-2 is a single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) virus responsible for the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic responsible for around 5.6 million deaths and more than 110 million cases reported globally in the last 2 years.

Here, we investigated the protective action elicited by FM-CBAL74 against RV and SARS-CoV-2 infection in an *in vitro* model of human gut epithelium.

We demonstrated that pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 inhibited RV-induced epithelial barrier damage (tight junctions (TJs) and adherent junctions' protein (AJ), and transepithelial electrical resistance evaluation), reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, TNF-α) release, through MAP kinases pathway activation.

Regarding SARS-CoV-2 infection, we demonstrated that pre- incubation with FM-CBA L74 reduced the number of infected cells, the expression of the host functional receptor angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) and the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, VEGFB, IL-15, IL-1β release. Modulating immune and non-immune protective mechanisms, the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 exerts a protective action against RV and SARS-CoV-2 infection. These findings may open new preventive and therapeutic strategies for these conditions.

# Riassunto

Sempre nuove evidenze suggeriscono l'efficacia del postbiotico derivato dalla fermentazione del latte vaccino con il probiotico *Lacticaseibacillus paracasei* CBA L74 (FM-CBAL74) per la prevenzione delle malattie infettive del bambino.

Il *Rotavirus* (RV) è un virus a RNA, a doppio filamento, ed è la principale causa di morbilità e mortalità associata alla gastroenterite acuta nella prima infanzia. Ogni anno è responsabile di oltre 500.000 decessi e di circa 2,4 milioni di ricoveri ospedalieri in bambini piccoli in tutto il mondo.

SARS-CoV-2 è un virus a RNA, a singolo filamento, responsabile della pandemia di Coronavirus (COVID-19), responsabile di oltre 5.6 milioni di morti e 110 milioni di casi a livello globale negli ultimi 2 anni.

In questo progetto di Dottorato, abbiamo studiato l'azione protettiva elicitata da FM-CBAL74 contro l'infezione da RV e SARS-CoV-2 in un modello *in vitro* di epitelio intestinale umano.

Abbiamo dimostrato che la pre-incubazione con FM-CBAL74 inibisce il danno di barriera epiteliale indotto da RV (proteine delle giunzioni serrate e aderenti, resistenza elettrica transepiteliale), lo stress ossidativo ed il rilascio di citochine pro-infiammatorie (IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ ) attraverso l'attivazione della via delle MAP chinasi.

Nell'infezione da SARS-CoV-2 abbiamo dimostrato che la pre-incubazione con FM-CBA L74 riduce il numero di cellule infette, l'espressione del recettore ACE2 (enzima 2 di conversione dell'angiotensina), il rilascio di citochine pro-infiammatorie IL-6, VEGFB, IL-15, IL-1β.

In conclusione, il postbiotico FM-CBAL7, attraverso una modulazione di meccanismi di difesa immunologici e non-immunologici, esercita un'efficace azione protettiva dei riguardi dell'infezione da RV e SARS-CoV-2. Questi dati supportano un utilizzo clinico di questo postbiotico per la prevenzione ed il trattamento di queste due temibili infezioni.

### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 The postbiotic concept

Postbiotics are defined as "any factor resulting from the metabolic activity of a probiotic or any released molecule capable of conferring beneficial effects to the host in a direct or indirect way" <sup>1</sup>. The nature and mixture of postbiotics depend on the strain of probiotic and on the matrix used for fermentation. Most of the beneficial activities of probiotics are mediated by postbiotics. Hence, postbiotics may substitute for probiotics by directly providing the active components, which can mediate their effects on human cells and microbiome <sup>2</sup>.

The effects could be related to the activities of several components, including lipoteichoic acid, peptidoglycans, bacteriocins, short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), nucleotides and/or peptides that are generated in the fermented matrix <sup>3</sup>.

It has been demonstrated that the postbiotics have an immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, and antimicrobial effect. To fully understand the postbiotic's mode of action, it is essential to understand the intestinal surface structure and the layers in contact with gut bacteria <sup>4</sup>. The intestinal epithelium provides the first physical barrier against microorganisms in the gut lumen <sup>5</sup> and protect the host from the environment. This barrier comprises the mucus layer produced by the goblet cells, followed by a monolayer of epithelial cells forming the epithelial junction adhesion complex. Once this barrier function is disrupted, bacterial and food antigens can reach the submucosa and induce inflammatory responses <sup>6</sup>. The intestinal barrier's protective effect can be exerted by increasing intestinal mucin (MUC2) production and the expression of genes involved in tight junction (TJ) signaling (such as OCLN, CLDN-4 and ZO-1) <sup>7</sup>. In addition to the ability to reduce inflammation modulating IgA's immunity and production <sup>4</sup>. All the above, reinforcing intestinal barrier integrity to maintain the intestinal homeostasis <sup>8</sup>.

Postbiotics represent a safe method to improve host health; the absence of viable microorganisms minimizes the risks associated with their intake. A safety advantage was that they decrease the risk for microbial translocation from the gut lumen to blood, of infections and prevent potential detrimental effects shown by probiotics within a pro-inflammatory context <sup>9</sup>. They can bypass the problem of acquiring antibiotic resistance genes and virulence factors, which may occur when probiotics are used <sup>10</sup>.

Postbiotics eliminate the need for exposure to live microorganisms, which is particularly important in children with an innate and adaptive immature immune system <sup>11</sup>, and who may still acquire viral, bacterial, and parasitic infections. Furthermore, other important factor driving interest in postbiotics is their inherent stability, both during industrial processes and storage. Many probiotic organisms are sensitive to oxygen and heat; and could be damaged in those geographical regions that do not have reliable cold chains or whose ambient temperature causes problems for storage of live microorganisms <sup>12</sup>.

#### 1.2 The postbiotic derived from cow milk fermentation with the probiotic L.paracasei CBA

# L74

Fermentation process has been one of the oldest methods of food and beverage preservation and of improving the functionality, health-promoting properties, and nutritional of food products <sup>13</sup>. This process is a primarily an anaerobic process, used for thousands of years, to convert sugars, such as glucose, to other compounds like alcohol, while producing energy for the microorganism or cell <sup>14</sup>.

Archaeologists have found molecular evidence for the production of a fermented beverage dated back to 7000 BC from the Neolithic village of Jiahu in China<sup>15</sup>. The earliest evidence of wine production, making comes from the presence of tartaric acid in an ancient jar dated from 5400–5000 BC, was found at the Hajji Firuz Tepe site in the northern Zagros Mountains in Mesopotamia <sup>16</sup>. The first traces of fermented milk products have been found as early as 8000 B.C. in Asia Minor and Eastern Europe, soon after the domestication of milk-producing animals (cows, sheep, and goats)<sup>17</sup>. In the 1850s and 1860s, Louis Pasteur became the first scientist to study fermentation, demonstrating that this process was performed by living cells <sup>18</sup>. According to Pasteur, only microorganisms could convert sugars into alcohol from grape juice, and that the process occurred in the absence of oxygen. He defined fermentation as *"respiration without air"* <sup>14</sup>.

In 1905, a Bulgarian medical student, Stamen Grigorov discovered *L.delbrueckii subspecies bulgaricus* (known until 1984 as *L.bulgaricus*), the lactic acid bacterium responsible for processing milk into yoghurt <sup>19</sup>. Based on Grigorov's findings, in 1909 the Russian biologist and Nobel Prize Elie Metchnikoff, proposed that daily yoghurt consumption engenders the longevity of the Bulgarian peasant population. Suggesting in this way a connection between the consumption of yoghurt and the number of Bulgarian centenarians <sup>20</sup>.

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have been used for centuries in the foods and beverages industries and plays nowadays a significant role in in numerous fermentation processes <sup>21</sup>. They used in food preservation and for the modification of the organoleptic characteristics of foods, for example flavors and texture. The general description of the bacteria included in the group is Gram-positive, non-spore forming, aerotolerant bacteria, catalase negative. Shape is variable, from cocci through to elongated rods <sup>22</sup>. Most LAB are non-motile, and may grow in high salt concentrations, and at a low pH. Lactic acid bacteria are phylogenetically classified in the phylum *Firmicutes*, class *Bacilli*, and order *Lactobacillales* <sup>23</sup>. The order *Lactobacillales* currently includes six families, i.e., *Aerococcaceae*, *Carnobacteriaceae*, *Enterococcaceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Leuconostocaceae*, and *Streptococcaceae*, with 40 genera and a continually increasing number of species (>400) <sup>22</sup>. The genus *Bifidobacterium* (family *Bifidobacteriaceae*) is also included in the LAB group, although it belongs to the phylum Actinobacteria. These bacteria may have common features with LAB

(mostly the ability to produce lactic acid) and are called "LAB-related" <sup>24</sup>.

Lactic acid bacteria can be classified as homofermentative and heterofermentative.

Homofermentative bacteria produce lactic acid (LA) as the key carbohydrate fermentation products <sup>25</sup>, while heterofermentative bacteria additionally produce other products such as acetic acid, CO2, ethanol, acetoin, and diacetyl <sup>26</sup>.

Some LAB improves the nutritional quality of fermented foods by increasing vitamins, minerals, dietary fiber, and antioxidants <sup>27</sup>. Furthermore, some LAB can produce exopolysaccharides, aroma compounds, and important enzymes, which plays a significant role for sensory quality of fermented foods <sup>28</sup>.

Lactic acid bacteria are predominantly found in nutrient-rich habitats. They are part of the normal microbiota of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and of the vagina of animals and humans, and they constitute an important element of the non-starter microbial communities found in dairy products (e.g., milk, cheeses, kefir), fish, meat, and vegetables. They are isolated from various food matrices and used as probiotics; due to their health benefits<sup>29</sup>. They are, in fact, proficient in inhibiting the growth of pathogenic organisms through different mechanisms such as adherence to epithelial cells, withstanding low pH, gastric juice, modulation of the immune system, and secretion of antimicrobial compounds <sup>30</sup>.

Furthermore, they enjoy historical "generally regarded as safe" (GRAS) and "qualified presumption of safety" (QPS) status by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), respectively.

These bacteria, moreover, can be used as starter culture in the fermentation process under controlled conditions <sup>25</sup>.

In this study we focused on the probiotic L.paracasei CBA L74, a Gram-positive

homofermentative, facultative anaerobic bacteria included in the list of "Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) microorganism" drawn up by the Panel on Biological Hazards of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA, 2013). This bacterial strain of human origin has been isolated from healthy infants' microbiota and it has been genetically characterized by the identification of its molecular profile using the Rep-PCR (Repetitive Extra-Genic Palindromic-PCR). Any food product amenable to fermentation by *L.paracasei* CBA L74 may be used, but the fermentation of cow milk with this probiotic has been proved to be a successful route to produce functional foods. Several studies reported both in preclinical and clinical evidence on the health benefits elicited by anew postbiotic deriving from cow milk fermentation with the probiotic

L.paracasei CBA L74<sup>2,31-35</sup>.

These studies have shown that this postbiotic stimulates innate and adaptative immunity, modulates inflammation and gut microbiome structure and function and protects against pediatric common infectious diseases <sup>2,31-35</sup>.

# 1.3 Preparation process of the postbiotic

The postbiotic investigated in the project thesis derived from skimmed cow milk fermentation with the probiotic *L.paracasei* CBA L74 (International Depository Accession Number LMG P-24778). The 4-day preparation process consisted of 3 phases fermentation, inactivation and drying, all performed at "Heinz Innovation Centre" in Nijmegen, The Netherlands (Figure 1). A figurative scheme of the plant is reported in Figure 2.

Fermentation was started in the presence of  $10^6$  bacteria for 24h at 37 °C, reaching 5.9 x  $10^9$  colonyforming units/g. The recipe for fermentation was 10.5% (w/v) skimmed powder cow milk, 87.5% (w/v) water and 2% (w/v) dextrose (Table 1). Before starting the fermentation, a preliminary phase was necessary for sterilization and preparation of the equipment (some steps must be done in the laboratory, others in the plant); then the fermentation and inactivation phase took place in sequence. The detailed protocol is reported below and is summarized in Figure 3.

Preliminary preparation phase:

- ◆ pre-inoculum preparation (10 ml) and incubation for 24h at 30 °C (A.2) (Day 1)
- ♦ inoculum preparation 2L and incubation for 24h at 30 °C (A.2) (Day 2)
- inoculum valve and glassware sterilization in autoclave (Day 2)
- ◆ 4 L of NaOH 30% w/v (7.5M) preparation (Day 2)
- weighing of all the ingredients to use to ferment (Day 3)
- calibration of the probe for pH/ temperature measurements (Day 3)
- check of the air filter (Day 3)
- cleaning of the line (with cleaning solutions) (Day 3)
- sterilization of the UHT line (Day 3)
- de-aeration of the fermenter (Day 3)
- connection and steam flushing of the inoculum and sodium hydroxide valves (Day 3)
- ✤ sterilization of the fermenter with steam at 121 °C for 30 minutes (Day 3)

Fermentation and inactivation phase: (Day 3)

- Ingredients mixing and holding for 20 min (powder milk, water, dextrose)
- ✤ 1st direct steam injection at 85-90 °C for 10 seconds
- ✤ 2nd direct steam injection at 137 °C for 10 seconds
- Fermentation substrate cooling (the cooling takes place in a tube heat exchanger in which the exterior tube is provided by water at 20 °C)
- Filling of fermenter
- ✤ Fermentation substrate at 37 °C
- Transfer of the inoculum into the fermenter

- Fermentation is carried out for 24 h (samples are taken every 2h; night shifts are necessary)
- Inactivation phase is carried out bringing the system at 85°C and holding of 20 seconds (setting the temperature of the fluid in the outer jacket of the bioreactor at 90°C) (Day 4)

On the fourth day, spray drying was also carried out. It was a vertical axis spray dryer with a cocurrent flow and two fluid nozzle atomization. The final fermented milk powder contained only bacterial bodies and fermentation products and no living microorganisms.

# 1.4 Preclinical evidence on the preventive action against pediatric common infectious diseases

Gut barrier represents the first mechanism of defense from the external environment <sup>5</sup>. Disruption of gut mucosal integrity results in increased permeability to allergens, toxins and pathogens, leading to immunological stress response and inflammation. Increased permeability to luminal toxins, allergens and pathogens plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of a number of gastrointestinal diseases <sup>36</sup>. The integrity of gut barrier is so essential for the maintenance of proper intestinal homeostasis and efficient protective reactions against chemical and microbial challenges. The first layer of defense in the epithelium of the gut is formed by the mucus layer which functioning as a dynamic protective barrier <sup>37</sup>. The intestinal mucus layer is principally comprised mucins, glycoproteins, lipids, secretory immunoglobulin (Ig) A and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) such as  $\alpha$ -defensins, that controls the passage of molecules and prevents pathogenic bacteria, viruses, and parasites from reaching the epithelial barrier <sup>38</sup>.

The mucus layer of the gut is produced and maintained by goblet cells that continuously renewed it every 1–2 hours <sup>39</sup>. In the large intestine, the mucus is organized in two different layers: the inner and the outer layer. Although it was observed that they have almost identical protein profiles, there are significant differences between them. The inner mucus layer is continuously refilled by the

MUC2 mucin, is anchored to the goblet cells and remains attached to the epithelium. It has a stratified appearance due to its organization in flat sheets, placed one below the other and forming a lamellar inner mucus layer. The outer mucus layer expands four times in volume, maintaining the netlike structure and avoiding the dissolution of the mucus gel due to the disulfide bonds. Intestinal infections induced by parasites, viruses, and bacteria cold influence the production of mucin by goblet cells <sup>40</sup>.

Tight junction (TJ) proteins form a continuous intercellular network creating a barrier with selective regulation of water, ion, and solutes across endothelial, epithelial, and glial tissues <sup>41</sup>. Tight junction (TJ) structures formed by proteins, such as occludin (OCLN), claudin (CLDN), zonula-occludens (ZO) play a key role in intestinal barrier function. These transmembrane proteins are programmed to rapidly open and close the barrier, in response to various stimuli modulating paracellular permeability <sup>42</sup>. Disturbances in TJ barrier function result in increased paracellular permeability and increased exposure of underlying intestinal tissue and other organ systems to noxious luminal antigens <sup>43</sup>.

Xiang Ling et al. <sup>44</sup>, showed the protective effect of Bifidobacterium on intestinal barrier function both in LPS-induced enterocyte barrier injury of Caco-2 monolayers and in a necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) rat model. The molecular mechanisms associated with these protective effects include inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine secretion, suppression of zonulin protein release and improvement of intestinal TJ integrity. Importantly, zonulin may be a crucial factor by which Bifidobacterium protects intestinal barrier function <sup>44</sup>.

Zagato et al. <sup>31</sup>, found that bacterial culture medium or milk fermented with FM-CBAL74 has strong anti-inflammatory properties on dendritic cells in response to the inflammatory enteric pathogen *Salmonella* typhimurium. Furthermore, they demonstrated that FM-CBAL74 has protective effects against colitis when administered intragastrically. Paparo et al. <sup>34</sup>, demonstrated that FM-CBAL74, through a direct interaction with human enterocytes, can regulate the integrity of gut mucosa and immune factors. This effect has been evaluated on human enterocytes cell lines (the Caco-2 cells), stimulated for 48 hours at different concentrations. The positive modulation of gut mucosa integrity by FM-CBAL74 has been supported by the up-regulated expression of TJ proteins, a significant increase of MUC2 expression and mucus layer thickness, and an up-regulation of innate immunity peptides (HBD-2 and LL-37). Toll-like receptors (TLRs) as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) can activate innate immunity, via sensing invasion of microbial pathogens <sup>45</sup>. Paparo et al. <sup>34</sup>, shown an increase in TLR2, NFkB1 and TFF3 expression after FM-CBAL74 exposure. Furthermore, they found a down-regulation of TLR4 expression, further supporting a potential anti-inflammatory activity of FM-CBAL74, as previously demonstrated in human dendritic cells <sup>31</sup>.

# 1.5 Clinical data on preventive action against pediatric common infectious diseases

Common gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections continue to be an important cause of morbidity for young children aged 0–3 years, especially during the winter season <sup>46</sup>.

Daycare centers (DCCs) worldwide are ideal places for infections to spread because of the density of small children and their constant interaction <sup>47</sup>. Common infectious diseases (CIDs) are ease by a general immaturity of the immune system and of respiratory and gastrointestinal tract functions <sup>33</sup>. This condition makes infants and children more susceptible to various infectious pathogens <sup>48</sup>. Children attending DCCs, in fact, are at increased risk for acquiring acute infections which is 2–3 times higher compared to children who stay at home or in small family care groups <sup>32,49</sup>.

The frequency of these infections causes significant discomfort for children and their parents, as well as, high rates of medical examinations, use of drugs, need for hospitalization, and many missed days of both daycare and parental work <sup>33</sup>. Parents of children attending child-care facilities miss

from 1 to 4 weeks of work per year caring for ill children <sup>50</sup>.

Illnesses related to daycare centers have been estimated to cost \$1.8 billion per year in the United States <sup>51</sup>.

Respiratory tract and enteric pathogens are the most commonly infectious agents associated with disease outbreaks in daycare centers <sup>50</sup>. It is estimated that about 25% of children under 1 year old and 6% of children during the first 6 years of life have recurrent respiratory infections (RRIs), making them one of the most common reasons for pediatric medical visits in the early years of life <sup>52</sup>. Enteric viruses, especially *Rotavirus* (RV), instead, have been recognized as the leading cause of childhood diarrhea worldwide <sup>53</sup>. Children of any age may be affected by RV, but attack rates are highest for children less than 5 years of age with the peak incidence as occurring between 6 and 24 months of age <sup>54</sup>. All these pathogens may be transmitted directly from child to child via sneezing, coughing, and touching, or indirectly via the environment <sup>55</sup>.

Understanding the epidemiology of infectious illnesses, can assist in predicting transmission within a childcare facility <sup>56</sup>.

It would be important to find a reliable strategy for the prevention of CIDs in children. An option is to use postbiotics.

Two randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have been performed to explore the effects of FM-CBAL74 in the prevention of gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections in children who attend day care centers. In the first RCT <sup>32</sup>, healthy children (12–48 months of age) attending daycare or preschool at least five days a week, were invited to participate to the study and distributed, randomly, into three groups (A, B and C) of 3-month dietary treatment during the winter season: postbiotic deriving from the fermentation of cow milk with the probiotic FM-CBAL74 (group A), postbiotic deriving from the fermentation of rice with the probiotic FM-CBAL74 (group B), placebo (group C). All subjects received 7 g/day of study products diluted in a maximum 150 ml of cow's milk or water. After dilution, the look and the taste were the same for all study products.

The primary outcome of the trial was the proportion of children experiencing at least one episode of CID. The secondary outcomes were the proportion of children with recurrent CID (i.e.,  $\geq$  3 episodes), total number of CIDs, use of medications (antipyretics, antibiotics, or steroids), emergency department visits, pediatric visits by the family pediatricians (FP) and hospitalizations. Study groups were also compared for fecal levels of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -defensins, cathelicidin (LL-37), secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA) at enrollment and after 3 months of intervention.

The overall number of children presenting at least one episode of CID, the total number of CIDs and their number per child revealed statistically significant differences in favor of the treated groups. This protective effect was accompanied by a reduction of drugs use. Intention-to-treat analysis showed that the proportion of children who experienced at least one CID was lower in group A (51.8%) and B (65.9%) compared to group C (80.3%). Per-protocol analysis showed that the proportion of children presenting upper respiratory tract infections was lower in group A (48.2%) and group B (58.5%) compared with group C (70.5%). The proportion of children presenting acute gastroenteritis was also lower in group A (13.1%) and group B (19.5%) compared with group C (31.1%). Furthermore, was observed for groups A and B compared to group C, an immunostimulatory effect consisting in a significant increase in innate (1-3:  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -defensins and cathelicidin (LL-37)) and acquired (secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA)) immunity peptides production.

The study provided evidence that fermented foods were effective in protecting children attending daycare or preschool against CIDs, with a higher protective effect in children who received a daily supplement with postbiotic deriving from fermentation of cow milk with FM-CBAL74.

Interestingly, these results have been confirmed by another multicenter randomized and controlled trial with a similar study design <sup>33</sup>. Healthy children (12–48 months of age) attending daycare or

preschool for at least 5 days a week, were allocated randomly to two groups and supplemented daily for 3 months with cow's skim milk fermented with FM-CBAL74 (group A) or placebo (group B) <sup>33</sup>. All subjects received 7 g/day of study products diluted in a maximum 150 ml of cow's milk or water. After dilution, the look and the taste were the same for all study products.

The primary outcome of the trial was the rate of children experiencing at least one episode of CID. The secondary outcomes were total number of CIDs, use of medications (antipyretics, antibiotics, steroids), emergency department medical examinations, hospitalizations, days of work lost by the parents, and days of school lost by children. Study groups were also compared for fecal levels of 1-3:  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -defensins, cathelicidin (LL-37), and secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA) at enrollment and after 3 months of intervention.

The results of this study confirmed that dietary supplementation with cow's skim milk powder fermented with FM-CBAL74 is associated with a reduction of CIDs in young children attending school in addition to a reduction of medication use, working days, or days of school lost, and to a significant increase in innate and acquired immunity peptides production. The dietary supplementation was well accepted by the children and safe, as demonstrated by the low dropout rate together with the high level of adherence, and the absence of adverse events observed during the study period.

Following this, cow milk fermented with FM-CBAL74 may be used as a valid strategy in preventing CIDs in children attending educational programs.

On the other hand, it is important to recognize that these RCTs studied a specific fermented product with a specific probiotic strain, a well-defined dose, and age-group, and that these findings cannot be extrapolated for other fermented products based on different probiotic strains.

16

### 1.6 Modulatory action on human gut microbiome

The human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is one of the most complex ecosystems known, colonized by a vast variety of microbial population. Its microbiota consists of 100 trillion bacterial cells (10-fold more than the total number of human cells), and an average of 1200 different species <sup>57</sup>. Bacteria represent the most abundant colonizers, but archaea, fungi, eukaryotic microbes and viruses are also abundant in healthy individuals <sup>58</sup>.

Everyone has a unique and specific gut microbial composition like a peculiar *fingerprint*, and it hasbeen agreed that the development of different types of diseases in humans could be related to the disruption of the gut microbiome, such a condition known as *dysbiosis* <sup>59</sup>. Dysbiosis refers to an imbalance in microbial species abundance, which is commonly linked to impaired gut barrier function and inflammatory cell activation <sup>60,61</sup>. Hence, maintaining a healthy proportion of beneficial microbes, also called *eubiosis*, is essential for human health <sup>62</sup>.

Numerous studies have demonstrated that human gut microbial colonization begins at birth but continues to develop a succession of taxonomic abundances for two to three years until the gut microbiota reaches adult-like diversity and proportions <sup>63</sup>. Several factors, including gestational age (GA), delivery mode, birth weight, antibiotic exposure, maternal microbiome, and diet, could modulate the diversity, abundance, and function of early life gut microbiota <sup>63</sup>. For example, infants born by cesarean section exhibit decreased diversity and richness of the gut microbiota, as a decreased *Bifidobacterium, Bacteroidetes, and Lactobacillaceae* <sup>64</sup>. In addition, recent evidence has demonstrated elevated colonization of opportunistic pathogens, many containing antibiotic resistance genes, in infants born by cesarean section <sup>65</sup>. Other studies have shown a link between caesarean-section delivery and the development of asthma, allergic rhinitis, and eczema <sup>66,67</sup>. The microbiota offers many benefits in host defense against pathogens, through a range of physiological functions such as strengthening gut integrity or shaping the intestinal epithelium <sup>68</sup>. It also performs an essential metabolic function, acting as a source of essential nutrients and

vitamins and aiding in the extraction of energy and nutrients, such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) and amino acids, from food <sup>69</sup>.

The principal system we have for interacting with the microbiota is the immune system. It known, in fact, a mutualistic interaction occurring between gut microbiota and immune system, where gut microbiota influences immune system development and function, and the immune system shapes gut microbiota composition <sup>35</sup>.

*Bifidobacterium* and LAB have been shown to secrete factors that hinder inflammation, presumably via the downregulation of interleukin-8 secretion, NF-kB dependent gene expression, and macrophage-attracting chemokine production. Some studies suggest that microbial-derived SCFAs, acetate, propionate, and butyrate, may be contributing to the modulation of host immune responses directly via G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), such as GPR43 and GPR41, and by epigenetic mechanisms, such as methylation activity within the promoter regions of certain genes <sup>70</sup>.

In Berni Canani et al. <sup>35</sup>, has been reported the effect of cow milk fermented with FM-CBAL74 on the gut microbiota composition and butyrate production. Healthy children (12 to 48 months of age) attending daycare or preschool at least 5 days a week, were randomly selected from the previous RCT <sup>33</sup>, and invited to participate to the study. Subjects were supplemented daily for 3 months with either a dietary product deriving from cow's milk fermented with *L.paracasei* CBA L74 or a placebo.

Fecal microbiota was profiled using 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing, and the fecal butyrate concentration was also measured. In this study was observed that the treatment with FM-CBAL74 affected gut microbiota with significant differences between the two study groups following intervention. The relative proportion of *Lactobacillaceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* significantly increased following FM-CBAL74 treatment, with specific significant increases in *Oscillospira* and *Faecalibacterium*. These results found positive correlations between the relative abundance of

18

several genera belonging to *Ruminococcaceae* and fecal LL-37 level, whereas *Lachnospira* and *Ruminococcus (Lachnospiraceae)* correlated with HBD-2 levels. Furthermore, FM-CBAL74 treatment resulted in an increase in the relative abundance of genes involved in butyrate synthesis, especially genes encoding butyryl-CoA transferase (EC 2.8.3.8) and butyrate kinase (EC 2.7.2.7). Consistently, a significant increase in fecal butyrate levels in children consumed FM-CBAL74 was observed; likely deriving from lactate catabolism, one of the primary pathways for butyrate production by gut bacteria <sup>35</sup>.

In conclusion, this study has shown that FM-CBAL74 induces positive regulation of the mutual interaction between the immune system and gut microbiota.

Additionally, the postbiotic deriving from fermentation of cow's milk with FM-CBAL74 has been shown to be an effective substitute dietary strategy, when breast milk is not available, or it is not sufficient to satisfy the nutritional needs.

In a monocentric, randomized, and controlled trial <sup>2</sup>, healthy full-term infants were screened for participation in the study, to evaluate the effects of two different dietary regimens on immune defense mechanisms (primary endpoint: secretory IgA, antimicrobial peptides), the microbiota and its metabolome (secondary outcomes).

Newborns were randomized to receive until the third month of age-standard formula containing 2.3 g/100 g of FM-CBAL74 powder (formula F group) or standard formula (formula S group), which is equivalent to 0.3% in the ready to use infant formula. The reference group was constituted only by breastfed infants. The results obtained in this RCT shown that the fermented formula, safe and well tolerated, induced an increase in secretory IgA (but not in antimicrobial peptides), reaching values similar to those of the reference group. On the contrary, formula S-fed infants displayed little increase. Overall, these data indicate that a fermented formula can drive sIgA production by the newborns.

19

The fermented formula, also, reduced the diversity of the microbiota, similarly, but not as much as, breastmilk. In fact, vaginally delivered and formula F-fed infants had a more homogeneous microbiota, those fed formula S had a more heterogeneous microbiota.

Furthermore, has been found that formula-fed infants demonstrated a differentiation in fecal metabolites compared with breastfed infants. In particular, the metabolome of breastfed infants was characterized not only by monosaccharides, such as sorbose and rhamnose, but also by fatty acids such as dodecanoic acid. This is likely due to metabolites contained within the breast milk that are transferred to the newborns. Although fecal metabolites of formula-fed infants was closer to that of the reference group. Specifically, in fecal samples of formula S-fed infants, has been observed a higher amount of carboxylic acids, such as fumaric and acetic acid, and saturated fatty acids such as myristic acid, than in breastfed and formula F-fed infants.

Together, all these results suggest that a fermented formula favors the maturation of the immune system, microbiota, and metabolome.

# 2.0 Aims of the study

The idea of this PhD thesis research project derived from all the previously reported data, suggesting a protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against pediatric infectious diseases. Then, the lack of data regarding antagonistic effect against specific pathogens relevant for the pediatric age, and the current Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic determined by the global spreading of SARS-CoV-2 infection inspired the design of the two aims of the project. The first aim of this project was to investigate the non-immune and immune mechanisms possibly regulated by FM-CBAL74 against *Rotavirus* (RV), the main agent responsible for acute gastroenteritis in the pediatric age.

The second aim was to investigate the possible protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2, the agent of COVID-19.

### 3.0 Materials and Methods

#### Study Aim #1

To explore the potential protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against the main agent of RV infection we investigated several non-immune and immune mechanisms.

*Rotavirus*, a non-enveloped double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) virus of Reoviridae family, is the most common pathogen identified in children with acute gastroenteritis (AGE) worldwide <sup>71</sup>. It is the main cause of hospitalization for AGE and continues to be the leading cause of diarrhea-associated mortality among children younger than 5 years <sup>72,73</sup>.

Acute gastroenteritis is responsible for an estimated 128 500 deaths and for more than 258 million episodes of diarrhea among children <5 years of age worldwide in 2016 <sup>73</sup>.

*Rotavirus* is approximately 75 nm in diameter and has multilayered icosahedral protein capsid composed of an outer layer, an inner layer, and a core. The 18.5 kb genome is made up of 11 segmented dsRNA encoding six structural proteins (VP1-VP4, VP6, VP7) and six nonstructural proteins (NSP1-NSP6). *Rotavirus* infects the non-dividing mature endothelial cells at the tip of the villi that are present in the small intestinal lumen <sup>74</sup> leading to slight lesions, such as enterocyte vacuolization and loss or larger changes, such as villus blunting and crypt hyperplasia<sup>75</sup>.

To limit RV diarrhea-associated mortality, in 2009 the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended the use of RV vaccine in all regions worldwide <sup>76</sup>.

Although, a positive impact of RV vaccination has been demonstrated, the incidence and mortality rate of RV infection in high- and low-income locations remain to be different from each other. The reasons for the lower effectiveness of RV vaccination in low-income countries are at present not fully understood <sup>77</sup>. This scenario strongly suggests the use of anti-RV compounds to decrease the number of child deaths because of AGE-induced dehydration <sup>78</sup>.

The postbiotic FM-CBAL74 could be a disrupting nutritional strategy against one of the most common killers for the pediatric age.

### Human enterocytes

For all experiments, we used a well validated model of human enterocytes, the Caco-2 cell line (ATCC: American Type Culture Collection, Middlesex, UK; accession number: HTB-37). This experimental model is commonly used for research activities in this area. These cells conserve the typical features of small intestine human enterocytes <sup>79</sup> and they are commonly adopted for experiments exploring the effects of pathogens, drugs, probiotics, and nutrients on human intestine <sup>80,81</sup>.

The Caco-2 cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; Gibco, Berlin, Germany) with 10% Fetal bovine serum (Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, Missouri, USA), 1% Non-Essential amino acids (Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, Missouri, USA), 1% (v/v) antibiotics (10.000 U/mL Penicillin and 10 mg/mL Streptomycin) (Euroclone Spa; MI, Italy), and 4 mM L- Glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, Missouri, USA). Caco-2 cells were grown in an incubator at atemperature of 37 °C and CO<sub>2</sub>, 5%. The culture medium was changed every 2 days. All experimentswere carried out in triplicate and three times.

#### Rotavirus strain

The simian *Rotavirus* strain SA11 was provided by ATCC (Accession number: VR-1565<sup>TM</sup>). Virus stock was grown in MA104 cells (ATCC; accession number: CRL-2378.1<sup>TM</sup>), which were maintained in Medium 199 (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) without serum and supplemented with 20 µg/mL of trypsin from porcine pancreas type IX (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) for 96h. After, the cells were lysed by freezing and thawing to achieve virus release. Extracted virus was titrated by focus forming assay (FFA) and expressed in focus-forming units (ffu) per cell, as previously described <sup>82</sup>.

This strain is well characterized and is able to replicate to high titers in Caco-2 cells compared to other *Rotavirus* strains <sup>83</sup>.

# Study products

The fermented milk was prepared from skimmed milk fermented with *L.paracasei* CBA L74 (FM-CBAL74), as previously described. The control (non-fermented milk, NFM) consisted of skimmed milk powder with the same basal nutrients' composition of fermented milk powder (grams per 100g): proteins, 35; lipids, 1; carbohydrates, 54 (Table 2).

#### Rotavirus activation and infection protocol

*Rotavirus* strain SA11 activation was activated with 20 µg/mL trypsin from porcine for 1 hour at 37°C. The viral suspension was added to the apical side of cell monolayers. After 60 min, the cells were washed and incubated in serum-free medium for the indicated time periods after infection. We adopted two infection protocols: i) in the first infection protocol, FM-CBAL74 and NFM at the dose of 11.5 mg/ml were co-incubated with RV (25 ffu/cell), previously activated, in a sterile tube for 1h and then, used to stimulate the cells for 48 h; ii) in the second infection protocol, Caco-2 cells were pre-treated with 11.5 mg/ml of FM-CBAL74 and NFM for 48 hours at 37 °C prior the infection. The dose of 11.5 mg/mL has been established based on dose-response experiments and on previously results obtained by our group <sup>34</sup>. Then, the viral suspension (25 ffu/cell) was added to the Caco-2 monolayer for 1 hour. After inoculation, cells were washed twice to remove free viruses and maintained with serum-free medium after infection.

# Quantification of Rotavirus infection

To quantify RV infection, undifferentiated Caco-2 cells were fixed with ice-cold methanol (Carlo Erba Reagents; MI, Italy) for 10 min, washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Gibco, Berlin, Germany) and permeabilized for 10 min with 0,1 % Triton X-100 (A4975,0500; PanReac AppliChem) diluted in PBS. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA; A6588,0050; PanReac AppliChem) in PBS-Tween 20 (A4974,0500; PanReac AppliChem) for 1 hour at room temperature. The samples were incubated with the specific primary antibody overnight at 4° C: anti-VP6 (1:100; ab181695; Abcam). After washing twice with PBS, the samples were incubated with the secondary antibody at room temperature for 1 hour: Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG Antibody, Alexa Fluor 594 (1:500; A-21203; Invitrogen, MA, USA). Nuclei were stained with 4'6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) (1:1500; H3570; Thermofisher). Finally, cells were washed and mounted with antifading Mowiol (Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and analyzed using an inverted fluorescence microscope.

# Apoptosis assay

Apoptotic cells were identified by double staining with the Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, after 48 hours of treatment, the cells were washed with PBS and incubated with 1x Annexin V binding buffer, then cells were stained with Annexin V-fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) for 10 min at room temperature in the dark. Before reading with a BD FACs Calibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), propidium iodide (PI) 5  $\mu$ g/mL was added.

#### Transepithelial electrical resistance measurement

To evaluate the monolayer integrity by transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), Caco-2 cells per well were seeded on polycarbonate 6-well Transwell® membranes (Corning, Life Science,

Kennebunk, USA). After 15 days' post-confluence, the TEER of monolayer was measured every 24 hours for a total of 72 hours, after RV infection, using an epithelial Volt-Ohm Meter (Millicel-ERS-2, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). The measured resistance value was multiplied by the area of the filter to obtain an absolute value of TEER, expressed as  $\Omega \times \text{cm}^2$ .

The TEER values were measured as follows: (measured resistance value–blank value)  $\times$  single cell layer surface area (cm<sup>2</sup>).

### Reactive oxygen species production

Intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) level, on differentiated Caco-2 cells, was detected by 2', 7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein (DCFH-DA), which is oxidized into fluorescent dichlorofluorescein (DCF) in the presence of ROS. Caco-2 cells were cultured in 24-well plates at a density of  $7.5 \times 10^4$  cells/mL. After the stimulation, DCFH-DA (20  $\mu$ M) was added for 20 min at 37°C in the dark and then the cells gently washed with PBS. Fluorescence of the cells was measured immediately on a microplate reader (SFM 25, Kontron Instruments; Japan) (Ex ( $\lambda$ ) 485 nm; Em ( $\lambda$ ) 535 nm). As a positive control, hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) (Sigma-Aldrich) was used at concentrations of 10 mM for 15, 30 and 60 min.

#### Quantitative real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cells with TRizol reagent (Sigma-Aldrich) and quantified using a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer and purity was verified by A260:280 and A260:230 absorbance

ratios. The integrity of the RNA was checked using gel electrophoresis. Total RNA (1 μgr) was reverse transcribed in cDNA with a High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA<sup>TM</sup> Kit (Applied Biosystems; Vilnius, Lithuania) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was stored at -80°C until use. Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis was performed using Taqman Gene Expression Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Grand Island, NY, USA) to evaluate the effect of intestinal exposure to milk products and *Rotavirus* SA11 on the gene expression of TJ occludin (Hs00170162\_m1 and Hs01551861\_m1, respectively). The TaqMan probes for this gene were inventoried and tested by Applied Biosystems manufacturing facility (QC).

VP6 expression was evaluated using a SYBR green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Grand Island, NY, USA) with the following primers: VP6: 5'-GCACAGCCATTCGAACATCATGC-3' (forward); 5'-TGCATCGGCGAGTACAGACTC-3' (reverse).

Amplification conditions were initial steps at 50 °C for 2 min and 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min in a Light Cycler 7900HT (Applied Biosystems). Data analysis was performed using the comparative threshold cycle (CT) method and expressed as  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ : ( $\Delta\Delta CT = \Delta CT_{sample} - \Delta CT_{control}$ ).

Glyceraldeide-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (GAPDH) gene was used as the housekeeping gene (TaqMan probe: Hs02786624\_g1; SYBR green 5'-AATCCCATCACCATCTTCCAG-3' (forward); 5'-AATGAGCCCCAGCCTTC-3' (reverse). Each sample was analyzed in triplicate.

### Analysis of pro-inflammatory cytokines production

The concentrations of IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  were analyzed in cell supernatants collected after treatment and stored at -80°C. The three cytokines production was measured by ELISA using commercially available kits (Abcam, Cambridge, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and results expressed in pg/mL.

The detection limits of IL-8, IL-6 and TNF-α were 1.8pg/mL, 2 pg/mL and 30 pg/mL, respectively.

# Western blot analysis

Western blotting analysis was carried on proteins lysed in cell lysis buffer [50 mMTris-Hcl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 0,1% (w/v) SDS], supplemented with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Roche). The protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). The cell lysates (30 µg) were loaded and separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and subsequently blotted onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Immobilon<sup>R</sup>-Transfer Membrane, Tullagreen, Carrigtwohill, Co). After 1 hour in blocking solution with 5% (w/v) non-fat dry milk (PanReac AppliChem) in PBS, containing 0.2% (v/v) Tween 20 (PBS-Tween), the PVDF membranes were incubated with the specific primary antibody overnight at 4 °C: anti-p-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) (1:1000; ab32538; Abcam), anti-total ERK1/2 (1:1000; ab17942; Abcam), anti-p-JNK1+JNK2+JNK3 (T183+T183+T221) (1:1000; ab124956; Abcam), anti-total JNK1+JNK2+JNK3 (1:1000; ab179461; Abcam), anti-α-Tubulin (1:5000; T6074; Sigma-Aldrich), or anti-GAPDH (1:5000; G8795; Sigma-Aldrich). The membranes were then incubated with the required secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature: Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG Antibody, HRP-conjugated (1:2000; ab205718; Abcam) or Goat Anti-MouseIgGAntibody, HRP-conjugated (1:5000; GtxMu-003-DHRPX; ImmunoReagents,), diluted in 5% (w/v) nonfat dry milk in PBS-Tween. The protein bands were visualized by chemiluminescence solution (Wester Antares; Cyanagen). The relative band intensity of each protein was normalized with those of the α-tubulin or GAPDH loading controls, using Image Lab software (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA). Western blotting was performed in triplicate. Densitometry analyses shown were derived from three independent experiments.

# Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

For actin cytoskeleton detection, undifferentiated Caco-2 cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Carlo Erba Reagents) for 30 min at room temperature. Autofluorescence due to free aldehyde groups from PFA treatment were blocked with 50 mM Ammonium Chloride (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS for 10 min at room temperature. Cover slips were washed twice with PBS, then cells were permeabilized for 10 min with 0,1% Triton X-100 in PBS. All the samples were incubated in blocking solution containing 1% BSA in PBS-Tween 20 for 1 hour at room temperature. After that, the cells were orderly incubated with phalloidin-TRITC (1:50;P1951; Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 hour at room temperature. After thoroughly washing with PBS, the samples were mounted with antifading Mowiol. Glass slides were allowed to cure overnight, in the dark. To investigate tight junctions (TJs) and adherent junctions' protein (AJ), Caco-2 cells were fixed, respectively, with ice-cold methanol and 4% PFA for 10 min or 30min at room temperature. Then, the cells were washed twice with PBS and permeabilized for 10 minwith 0,1% Triton X-100 in PBS. After washing, the cells were blocked using 1% BSA in PBS-Tween for 1 hour at room temperature and then incubated overnight at 4 °C with specific primary antibody: anti-occludin (1:100; ab31721; Abcam), anti-ZO-1 (1:200; ab96587; Abcam), and anti-E- cadherin (1:100; 610181; BD Biosciences). Coverslips were washed with PBS and incubated with the required secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature: Donkey Anti-Rabbit IgG Antibody, Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200; A-21206; Invitrogen) or Goat Anti-Mouse IgG Antibody, Alexa Fluor 488 (1:400; A-11029; Invitrogen). Nuclei were stained with DAPI.

Finally, cells were mounted in Mowiol. Glass slides were allowed to cure overnight, in the dark.Cells were observed with 63x objective on a Zeiss LSM980 confocal system equipped with an ESID detector and controlled by a Zen blue software (Zeiss; Jena, Germany). Fluorescence images presented are representative of cells imaged in at least three independent experiments.

# Statistical analysis

All data were collected in a dedicated database and analyzed by a statistician using GraphPad Prism 7 (La Jolla, CA, USA). The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to determine whether variables were normally distributed. Descriptive statistics were reported as means and standard deviations (SDs) for continuous variables. To evaluate the differences among continuous variables, data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. The level of significance for all statistical tests was two-sided, p<0.05.

# Study Aim #2

The second part of the PhD research project was focused on the investigation of the potential protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2, the agent of Coronavirus disease (COVID-19).

Coronavirus disease is an ongoing pandemic caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) <sup>84</sup>. SARS-CoV-2 is a single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) virus which infects epithelial cells of the respiratory tract, causing typical signs such as fever, dry cough, fatigue, and dyspnea. A small fraction of patients however progresses towards a severe form of pneumonia requiring the hospitalization or in some cases intensive care unit treatments <sup>85</sup>.

Gastrointestinal tract is also a target organ for SARS-CoV-2 infection <sup>86</sup>.

Gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms (such as diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, anorexia, and abdominal pain) are commonly presented by COVID-19 patients, since human enterocytes express high level of angiotensin- converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) receptor, and other cell components for SARS-CoV-2 binding and replication <sup>35, 87,88.</sup>

The spike (S) protein of SARS-CoV-2 binds to the host functional ACE2 receptor through its receptor-binding domain. Then, the activation of S-protein by transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) facilitates viral entry into target cells <sup>89,90</sup>.

Viral infection leads to the release of massive amounts of inflammatory cytokines, defined as "cytokine storm" <sup>91,92</sup>. The cytokine storm attempts to eliminate the infecting virus, but, in the process, collateral damage to human tissue occurs as well <sup>93</sup>.

The postbiotic FM-CBAL74 could be an alternative strategy for fighting SARS-CoV-2 infection.

# Sars-CoV-2

Wild-type (WT) SARS-CoV-2 was isolated from the nasopharyngeal swab of a patient with laboratory-confirmed COVID-19, as previously described <sup>94</sup>. Briefly, nasopharyngeal swab in 2 ml of viral transport medium was collected for molecular diagnosis and frozen. Confirmed PCR-positive specimen was aliquoted and refrozen until virus isolation was initiated. Vero E6 cells were used for virus isolation from nasopharyngeal swabs. Vero E6 cells ( $8 \times 10^5$ ) were trypsinized and suspended in DMEM, with 2% FBS in T25 flasks to which 100 µL of the clinical specimen was added. The inoculated cultures were grown in a humidified 37 °C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and observed for cytopathic effects daily. When cytopathic effects were observed (7 days after infection), the cell monolayers were scrapped with the back of a pipette tip. The cell culture supernatant containing the viral particles was aliquoted (100 µL) and immediately frozen at -80 °C. Viral lysates were used for total nucleic acid extraction for confirmatory testing and sequencing.

Experiments involving living viruses were performed in biosafety level-3 (BSL-3) authorized laboratory.

# **Cells infection protocol**

Caco-2 cells were cultured in 6-well plates and were pretreated for 48 h with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM. This cellular model has been recently used to explore SARS-CoV-2 infection and potential therapeutic strategies against COVID-19 <sup>95,96</sup>.

The dose of 11.5 mg/mL has been established based on dose–response experiments and previous data obtained by our group <sup>34</sup>. The cells were infected with 0.1 MOI of viral particles that belonged to the WT SARS-CoV-2 for 72 h. Subsequently, the cells were washed with PBS, and then harvested in TRizol or fixed in PFA for subsequent analysis. Non-infected Caco-2 cells (NI) were used as control. All experiments were carried out in triplicate and repeated three times.

# Infectivity assays: immunofluorescence staining and real time PCR for nucleocapsid protein

To determine the infectivity of SARS-CoV-2, Caco-2 cells were fixed with 4% PFA for 30 min at room temperature and processed for immunofluorescence staining to visualize viral antigen expression (Nucleocapsid protein, N). Autofluorescence due to free aldehyde groups from PFA treatment was blocked with 50 mM ammonium chloride in PBS for 10 min at room temperature. Cover slips were washed twice with PBS, then cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min. After washing, the cells were blocked for 1 h using 1% BSA in PBS-Tween and then incubated overnight at 4°C with specific primary antibody: anti-SARS-CoV-2 nucleoprotein (1:100; 3851; ProSci). Coverslips were washed with PBS and incubated with the required secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature: Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG Antibody, Alexa Fluor 594 (1:500; A-21203; Invitrogen). Nuclei were stained with DAPI.

Finally, cells were mounted with anti-fading Mowiol (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were observed with 63x objective on a Zeiss LSM980 confocal system equipped with an ESID detector and controlled by a Zen blue software (Zeiss; Jena, Germany).

To detect N gene in infected Caco-2 cells, total RNA was isolated with TRizol reagent (Sigma-Aldrich), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA samples were quantified using the NanoDrop 2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) and RNA quality and integrity were assessed with the Experion RNA Standard Sense kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). RT-PCR for N of SARS-CoV-2 was performed with Liferiver Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Real Time kit (BioVendor, Brno, Czech Republic), according to the manufacturer's protocol. These runs were performed using a 7900 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA) under the following conditions: 45 °C for 10 min, 95 °C for 3 min, then [95 °C for 15 s and 58 °C for 30 s (×45cycles)]. The quantification cycle values of N were reported as means ± SD normalized to the internal control provided by the kit.

#### ACE2, TMPRSS2 and inflammatory cytokines analyses by quantitative real time PCR

RNA extracted was reverse transcribed in cDNA with a High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA<sup>™</sup> Kit (Thermofisher, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was stored at -80°C until use. To evaluate the effect on the ACE2 and TMPRSS2 gene expression, quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis was performed using Taqman Gene Expression Master Mix (Hs00174179\_m1 and Hs01122322\_m1, respectively; Thermofisher).

Inflammatory cytokines expression (IL-6, IL-15, IL-1 $\beta$ , VEGFB, TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP-1, CXCL1) was evaluated using a SYBR green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Grand Island, NY, USA). The details of the primers used in these assays are provided in Table 2 . The cDNAs were amplified using a 7900 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) at this cycling conditions: 50 °C for 2 min, 95 °C 2 min, 40 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min, followed by the melt curve setting of 1 cycle of 95 °C for 15 s, 60 °C for 1 min and 95 °C for 15 s.

Data analysis was performed using the comparative threshold cycle (CT) method and expressed as 2- $\Delta$ CT. Beta-glucuronidase (GUSB) gene was used as the housekeeping gene:

5'-GAAAATATGTGGTTGGAGAGAGCTCATT-3' (forward); 5'-CCGAGTGAAGATCCCCTTTTTA-3' (reverse).

Expression data were normalized to non-infected cells (NI). Each sample was analyzed in triplicate.

# Western blot analysis

Western blotting analysis was carried on proteins lysed in cell lysis buffer [50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 0,1% (w/v) SDS], supplemented with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Roche). The protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). The cell lysates (30  $\mu$ g) were loaded and separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and subsequently blotted

onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (ImmobilonR-Transfer Membrane, Tullagreen, Carrigtwohill, Co). After 1 hour in blocking solution with 5% (w/v) non-fat dry milk (PanReac AppliChem) in PBS, containing 0.2% (v/v) Tween 20 (PBS-Tween), the PVDF membranes were incubated with the specific primary antibody overnight at 4 °C: anti-ACE2 (1:1000; ab15348; Abcam), or anti- $\beta$ -actin (1:5000; ACTBD11B7; Santa Cruz, CA, USA). The membranes were then incubated with the required secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature: Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG Antibody, HRP-conjugated (1:2000; ab205718; Abcam), or Goat Anti-Mouse IgG Antibody, HRP-conjugated (1:5000; GtxMu-003-DHRPX; ImmunoReagents,), diluted in 5% (w/v) nonfat dry milk in PBS-Tween. The protein bands were visualized by chemiluminescence solution (Wester Antares; Cyanagen). The relative band intensity of each protein was normalized with those of the  $\alpha$ tubulin or GAPDH loading controls, using Image Lab software (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA). Western blotting was performed in triplicate. Densitometry analyses shown were derived from three independent experiments.

#### Statistical analysis

All the data were collected in a dedicated database and analyzed using the GraphPad Prism 7.0 software (La Jolla, CA, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the variables were normally distributed. Descriptive statistics were reported as the means and standard deviations of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. The data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. The level of significance for all statistical tests was 2-sided, p < 0.05.

# 4.0 Results

#### Study Aim #1

In preclinical and clinical studies, it has been demonstrated that a specific functional food, deriving from the fermentation of cow's milk with the probiotic *L. paracasei* CBA L74 (FM-CBAL74), is able to positively modulate several defense mechanisms against pathogens and to prevent GI tract infections in children <sup>32,34</sup>.

In addition, the consumption of FM-CBAL74 has been associated with a positive modulation of gut microbiome structure and function in children and neonates <sup>2,35</sup>.

In this PhD project, we investigated the potential protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against the main agent of RV infection on non-immune and immune mechanisms.

# Cellular damage

*Rotavirus* infectivity is commonly demonstrated by the detection of viral capsid protein VP6 in human enterocytes <sup>97</sup>, using immunofluorescence staining protein <sup>82</sup>.

The infectivity of RV in Caco-2 cells was confirmed by the quantification of VP6 protein (Figure 4A-B), and mRNA levels (Figure 4C). The addition of FM-CBAL74 to RV for up to 6 hours before infection or pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 for 48 hours before enterocytes RV infection were unable to limit the number of infected cells (Figure 4A-B).

The enterocyte is the main cell target for RV replication in the host and AGE is the principal clinical outcome of RV infection. A mechanism by which RV infection induces cell injury in human enterocytes is the alteration of the cytoskeleton, leading to a disorganization of F-actin <sup>98</sup>.
Dynamic remodeling of the F-actin is regulated by ERK activation *via* phosphorylating some actin cross-linking/bundling proteins <sup>99</sup>.

As shown in Figure 4D, non-infected cells showed a regular distribution of cytoskeleton actin filaments. In contrast, RV-infected enterocytes showed a marked alteration of cytoskeleton structure with a disorganization of F-actin filaments (Figure 4D). Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74, but not with non-fermented cow's milk (NFM), protected the cells against RV-induced rearrangements of F-actin filaments (Figure 4D).

Rotavirus infection induces apoptosis in human intestinal Caco-2 cells <sup>34,100</sup>. An increase in necrotic cells (positive only for propidium, PI) and late apoptotic cells (positive for both PI and Annexin V) confirmed the pro-apoptotic effect induced by RV infection compared to non-infectedcells (Figure 4E-I). Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, prevented these effects,down-regulating the percent of apoptotic cells (p < 0.05) (Figure 4E-I).

These results suggested that, while FM-CBAL74 is unable to prevent RV infection in human enterocytes, it can limit the subsequent cytoskeleton alterations and apoptosis.

#### MAP kinases pathway activation

Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades are key signaling pathways that regulate a wide variety of cellular processes, including proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and stress responses <sup>101</sup>. A typical MAPK cascade consists of at least three sequentially acting serine/threonine kinases, aMAP kinase kinase kinase (MAPKKK), a MAP kinase kinase (MAPKK) and finally, the MAP kinase (MAPK) itself, with each phosphorylating, and hence activating, the next kinase in the cascade <sup>102</sup>.

There are three well-characterized subfamilies of MAPKs in mammals: the extracellular signalregulated kinases (ERKs), the c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs), and the p38 kinases <sup>103</sup>. Some studies have showed that ERK signaling contribute to cell survival, whereas JNK and p38 signaling contributes to cell death. Recently, has been shown that ERK activation not always correlated with cell survival; but also, this MAP kinase would show an interaction with cell death, including apoptosis, autophagy, and senescence <sup>104</sup>.

To further characterize the intracellular mechanisms involved in the protective action of FM-CBAL74, we investigated the MAP kinase pathway activation. As shown in Figure 5A-B, RV infection resulted in an increase ratio of phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) and c-Jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK), demonstrating an activation of this pathways. The pretreatment with FM-CBAL74 prevented the increase of phosphorylation ratio of ERK and JNK induced by RV compared to NFM (p < 0.001).

These results provided evidence on ERK/JNK pathway involvement in the protective action of FM-CBAL74 against RV infection.

## **Intestinal Permeability**

To investigate the protective action of FM-CBAL74 against gut barrier alteration induced by RV infection, we evaluated the transepithelial electric resistance (TEER), the expression of TJ proteins, occludin and zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1), and of AJ protein, E-cadherin, in Caco-2 cell monolayer. As shown in Figure 6A, RV infection determined a significant decrease of transepithelial resistance (TEER) in human enterocytes (p<0.05). This event was associated with an alteration of TJ proteins, as demonstrated by redistribution of occludin and ZO-1 (Figure 6B and Figure 6C), and the reduction of their expression (p<0.05) (Figure 6B and Figure 6C). The pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, prevented RV-induced TEER decrease (p<0.05) (Figure 6A).

Moreover, the pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 compared to NFM, protected Caco-2 cells from occludin and ZO-1 redistribution and enhanced their expression (p < 0.05) (Figure 6B and Figure 6C, suggesting a protective effect against gut barrier dysfunction.

Furthermore, we found that E-cadherin expression appeared significantly down-regulated in RVinfected cells compared to non-infected cells (p<0.001) (Figure 6D). Again, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 significantly prevented the reduction of E-cadherin expression caused by RV infection compared to NFM (p<0.05) (Figure 6D).

## Inflammatory response

Reactive oxygen species, also referred to as reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI), which includes oxygen, superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide, are chemical molecules produced by cellular metabolism <sup>105</sup>. Low and moderate amounts of ROS have beneficial effects on several physiological processes including killing of invading pathogens, wound healing, and tissue repair processes <sup>106</sup>. An overproduction of ROS can become lethal and destroy the structure of biological macromolecules such as DNA and proteins, leading to various diseases including cancer, respiratory, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, digestive diseases, and oxidative stress <sup>107</sup>. Furthermore, the increased levels of inflammatory mediators could be followed by higher expression of cytokines including interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) <sup>108.</sup> These cytokines are well known pro-inflammatory cytokines involved in local and systemic inflammatory reactions <sup>109</sup>.

To further study the protective effect of FM-CBAL74 on intestinal epithelial oxidative stress and pro- inflammatory cytokines response induced by RV infection, we analyzed ROS and IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-α cytokines production. As shown in Figure 7A, RV significantly increased ROS production. The pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, inhibited the RV-induced ROS increase (p < 0.05) (Figure 7A). IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  production were significantly higher in the RV-infected cells than those in noninfected cells (Figure 7B-D). These effects were blunted by FM-CBAL74, demonstrating a protective effect of this postbiotic (p < 0.05) (Figure 7B-D).

Altogether these data suggested that FM-CBAL74 was able to inhibit ROS production and IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  cytokines release induced by RV infection in human enterocytes.

#### Study Aim #2

This second part of the PhD research project was focused on the investigation of the potential protective action elicited by the postbiotic FM-CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2, the agent of COVID-19. To assess the potential protective effect of FM-CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2 infection, we investigated the N viral protein by immunofluorescence staining and RT-PCR in a well validated model of human enterocytes, the Caco-2 cell line.

Our study showed that the pretreatment with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, significantly reduced the amount of N mRNA and viral protein in Caco-2 cells infected with SARS-CoV-2 (Figure 8A-B). This result was probably due to a modulation of the SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2, the molecular mediator that facilitate virus entry into host cells. In fact, the pretreatment with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, resulted in a significant reduction of ACE2 mRNA expression and protein level in human enterocytes (Figure 8C-D). No effects have been observed on TMPRSS2 expression, suggesting that the preventive action of FM-CBAL74 not involved the modulation of TMPRSS2 (Figure 8C).

SARS-CoV-2 infection is, also, associated with high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. To investigate the FM-CBAL74 modulatory action on inflammatory cytokines response elicited by SARS-CoV-2, we evaluated the expression of the most important pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines commonly observed in COVID-19 patients <sup>110</sup>, and we observed that this particular fermented food was able to significantly reduce the expression of IL-6, VEGFB, IL-15, and IL-1 $\beta$  (Figure 8E).

These results showed that modulating the crucial aspects of the infection, the fermented food FM-CBAL74 exerts a preventive action against SARS-CoV-2 (Figure 9).

This evidence could pave the way to innovative nutritional strategy to mitigate the COVID-19.

#### 5.0 Discussion

Emerging evidence suggest the potential of the postbiotic approach for the prevention of pediatric infectious diseases <sup>31-35,111-114.</sup>

Unfortunately, discrepancies in clinical results evaluating different postbiotic products, and the paucity of preclinical data on the mechanisms of action elicited by these compounds against specific pathogens are still blunting the wide use of this approach.

This PhD research project aimed to explore the anti-RV and anti-SARS-CoV-2 effect of a specific postbiotic deriving from the fermentation of cow's milk with the probiotic FM- CBAL74 with a demonstrated clinical efficacy against pediatric AGE <sup>32-33</sup>.

We found that this postbiotic positively modulate a range of immune and non-immune defense mechanisms against RV and SARS-CoV-2 infection in human enterocytes.

Regarding to the effects on RV, despite this postbiotic was unable to significantly reduce the number of infected cells, a protective action against gut barrier damage, characterized by cytoskeleton alterations and apoptosis, was observed. The effect involved the modulation of a pivotal regulator of stress-induced cell damage, the ERK/JNK kinase pathway <sup>115</sup>.

ERK and JNK are members of MAP kinases, which are ubiquitous serine/threonine kinases that are involved in transduction of externally derived signals regulating many biological processes <sup>116</sup>. Many viruses, including influenza A, herpes simplex virus 1, hepatitis C, RV, employ the ERK/JNK pathway to facilitate different stages of their life cycle for host infection <sup>117-119</sup>.

*Rotavirus* activated this pathway through the interaction of its outer capsid proteins, such as VP4-VP8 andVP4-VP5 domains and VP7, and with non-structural protein NSP1 <sup>120</sup>.

MAP kinases activation and apoptosis induction in human enterocytes play also a role in the breakdown of epithelial barrier, through an altered distribution of occludin and ZO-1, as also

demonstrated by a reduction of TEER value <sup>80,81,121</sup>.

The gut barrier integrity represents the first line of defense against pathogens targeting epithelial cells <sup>122</sup> and it is of pivotal importance in protecting children against gastrointestinal infections <sup>123</sup>. As reported by our study and by others, RV infection elicited an alteration of the gut barrier integrity, through structural and functional changes in TJ and AJ proteins in human enterocytes, as demonstrated by a decrease of TEER <sup>34,123-125</sup>. We found that FM-CBAL74 had beneficial effects on gut barrier integrity and on the increased enterocyte monolayer permeability in RV- infected cells, preventing RV-induced decrease in TEER and up-regulating occluding, ZO-1 and E-cadherin expression. These effects also could be due to a down-regulation of RV-induced MAP kinases pathway activity.

According to previous evidence <sup>126,127</sup>, our data demonstrated that RV infection elicited an increase of ROS production in human enterocytes. ROS are involved in MAP kinase pathway activation <sup>128</sup>, leading to pro-inflammatory cytokines release, including IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , <sup>121,129-132</sup>.

We demonstrated that FM-CBAL74 was able to prevent RV-induced ROS, IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  production, suggesting a potent inhibition of the inflammatory storm which in turn is responsible for the severity of signs and symptoms commonly observed in children infected by this microorganism <sup>72</sup>. We have investigated the protective anti-RV action of FM CBAL74 in an *in vitro* experimental tool. We have demonstrated that this postbiotic could exert a positive modulation of gut microbiome in the pediatric age associated with an increased production of secretory IgA (sIgA) and butyrate in the intestinal lumen <sup>2,32,33-35</sup>.

Considering the relevant role exerted by these molecules in protecting against infections and in modulating gut barrier integrity and inflammation, it is possible to hypothesized that this postbiotic could modulate an even higher range of defense mechanisms against RV <sup>113</sup>.

Other studies on the efficacy and mechanisms of action of FM-CBAL74 using more complex

systems, such as human biopsies and/or organoids exposed to different gastrointestinal pathogens, could be advocated to further explore the potential of such approach.

It has been hypothesized that fermented foods could be a potential strategy to also limit SARS-CoV-2 infection, but the mechanisms are still largely undefined <sup>133</sup>.

In this PhD research project, we focused on the infectivity, the expression of the host functional receptor ACE2, TMPRSS2 and the inflammatory cytokines response of SARS-CoV-2 infection in human enterocytes. We observed that this fermented food-based postbiotic was able to significantly reduce the number of infected enterocytes, as demonstrated by the reduction of N viral protein positive cells. The binding affinity of the S protein of SARS-CoV-2 and ACE2, and its cleaving through the serine protease TMPRSS2, represent the major determinant of SARS-CoV-2 replication rate and disease severity <sup>89,134</sup>. Blocking of the viral receptor-binding domains represents a key step in antiviral approaches <sup>135</sup>. We found that FM-CBAL74 was able to reduce ACE2 expression, preventing SARS-CoV-2 entry into human enterocytes. No modulation was observed in TMPRSS2 expression. One of the characteristics of COVID-19 is the exacerbated inflammatory response that is considered an important determinant of clinical severity and even death in COVID-19 patients <sup>135,136</sup>. The GI tract contributes to the genesis of the "cytokine storm" <sup>133</sup>.

Furthermore, alteration of gut microbiome plays a role in modulating host inflammatory response. The depletion of several bacterial species in the COVID-19 patients correlated with an increased plasma concentration of several cytokines, chemokines, and inflammatory biomarkers, such as IL-1β and IL-6<sup>137</sup>. The modulation of these cytokines is considered a relevant target to improve COVID-19 outcomes <sup>138</sup>. In our study, we observed that FM-CBAL74 was able to reduce the levels of IL-1β, IL6, VEGFB, and IL-15. The result on IL-6 could be particularly relevant in clinical practice. Increased IL-6 levels are commonly observed in patients with COVID-19 with an association with disease severity <sup>139</sup>. Accordingly, clinical trials are providing promising results on the effects of IL-6 inhibitors in COVID-19 patients <sup>140,141</sup>. The research on active compounds able to counteract SARS-CoV-2 infection is very active <sup>142</sup>.

Recently has been provided evidence on phosphate foods additives, including inorganic polyphosphates (polyPs) that at low dose are able to inhibit SARS-CoV-2 infection, replication, and cytokine storm <sup>94</sup>. The results of the present study provide additional evidence on the potential of nutritional strategies against COVID-19.

The limitations of this PhD research project, were that we did not provided evidence on which specific FM-CBAL74 components, deriving from the fermentation of cow's milk with the probiotic, could be responsible for the observed protective actions. The effects could be related to the activities of several components, including lipoteichoic acid, peptidoglycans, bacteriocins, nucleotides and peptides. It has been demonstrated that peptides deriving from fermentation of cow's milk proteins could act as modulators of non-immune and immune gastrointestinal defense mechanisms <sup>143-146</sup>.

Another limitation is related to the fact that we explored the protective effects of FM-CBAL74 against only the main agent of pediatric AGE, *Rotavirus*. Subsequent studies are necessary to explore the protective action elicited by FM-CBAL74 against other agents responsible for pediatric AGE. Furthermore, we did not provided evidence on other potential molecular mechanisms involved in SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Future studies are advocated to better define the protective action elicited by this postbiotic against human infectious diseases, and future clinical trials are advocated to explore the clinical impact of this nutritional strategy against pediatric AGE and COVID-19.

45

## **6.0** Conclusions

In conclusion, we provided evidence on the protective action elicited by FM-CBAL74 against RV and SARS-CoV-2 infection. Our findings could act in parallel with other beneficial actions on the structure and function of the gut microbiome and on innate and adaptive immunity, that have been shown in previous studies <sup>2,32-35</sup>.

Altogether, this evidence could pave the way for innovative nutritional strategies against RV one of the most common pediatric killers, responsible for more than 200,000 deaths per year worldwide <sup>73</sup>; as well as to mitigate COVID-19 that is responsible for 5.6 million deaths worldwide up to now <sup>147</sup>.

## 7.0 Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all researchers at the Department of Translational Medical Science and at CEINGE - Advanced Biotechnologies Research Center of the University Federico II of Naples.

A special thanks to my PhD tutor, **Prof. Roberto Berni Canani**, for assistance and words of encouragement, and for his time and effort in checking this PhD thesis. Prof. Roberto Berni Canani was my primary resource for getting my science questions answered and was instrumental in helping me crack out this thesis.

I would like to express my deep sense of gratitude to **Prof. Massimo Zollo**, for his precious suggestions and help.

Furthermore, I would like to express my heartfelt and sincere thanks to The Kraft Heinz Company, for sponsoring my PhD fellowship, and to **Dr. Andrea Luigi Budelli**, Vice President R&D Europe and Global Infant Nutrition, for the precious suggestion in conducting my research activities.

# 8.0 References

- Aguilar-Toalá J.E., Arioli S., Behare P., Belzer C., Berni Canani R., Chatel J.M., D'Auria E., De Freitas M.Q., Elinav E., Esmerino E.A., et al. (2021). Postbiotics - when simplification fails to clarify. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 18(11):825-826. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00521-6.
- Roggero P., Liotto N., Pozzi C., Braga D., Troisi J., Menis C., Gianni M.L., Berni Canani R., Paparo L., Nocerino R., et al. (2020). Analysis of immune, microbiota and metabolome maturation in infants in a clinical trial of Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74-fermented formula. *Nat Commun.* 11(1):2703. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16582-1.
- Wegh C.A.M., Geerlings S.Y., Knol J., Roeselers G., Belzer C. (2019). Postbiotics and Their Potential Applications in Early Life Nutrition and Beyond. *Int J Mol Sci.* 20(19):4673. doi: 10.3390/ijms20194673.
- Morniroli D., Vizzari G., Consales A., Mosca F., Gianni M.L. (2021). Postbiotic Supplementation for Children and Newborn's Health. *Nutrients*. 13(3):781. doi: 10.3390/nu13030781.
- Vancamelbeke M., Vermeire S. (2017). The intestinal barrier: a fundamental role in health and disease. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 11(9):821-834. doi: 0.1080/17474124.2017.1343143.
- Jäger R., Mohr A.E., Carpenter K.C., Kerksick C.M., Purpura M., Moussa A., Townsend J.R., Lamprecht M., West N.P., Black K., et al. (2019). International Society of Sports Nutrition Position Stand: Probiotics. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*. 16(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s12970-019-0329-0.
- 7. Ghosh S., Whitley C.S., Haribabu B., Jala V.R. (2021). Regulation of Intestinal Barrier Function by Microbial Metabolites. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 11(5):1463-1482. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.02.007.
- 8. Gao J., Li Y., Wan Y., Hu T., Liu L., Yang S., Gong Z., Zeng Q., Wei Y., Yang W., Zeng Z., etal. (2019). A Novel Postbiotic from *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG With a Beneficial Effect on Intestinal Barrier Function. *Front Microbiol.* 10:477. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00477.
- **9.** Nataraj B.H., Ali S.A., Behare P.V., Yadav H. (2020). Postbiotics-parabiotics: the new horizonsin microbial biotherapy and functional foods. *Microb Cell Fact.* 19(1):168. doi: 10.1186/s12934-020-01426-w.
- **10.** Tsilingiri K., Barbosa T., Penna G., Caprioli F., Sonzogni A., Viale G., Rescigno M. (2012). Probiotic and postbiotic activity in health and disease: comparison on a novel polarised ex-vivo organ culture model. *Gut.* 61(7):1007-15. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300971.

- **11.** Żółkiewicz J., Marzec A., Ruszczyński M., Feleszko W. (2020). Postbiotics-A Step Beyond Pre- and Probiotics. *Nutrients*. 12(8):2189. doi: 10.3390/nu12082189.
- Salminen S., Collado M.C., Endo A., Hill C., Lebeer S., Quigley E.M.M., Sanders M.E., Shamir R., Swann J.R., Szajewska H., et al. (2021). The International Scientific Association of Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of postbiotics. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 18(9):649-667. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00440-6.
- Xiang H., Sun-Waterhouse D., Waterhouse G.I.N., Cui C., Ruan Z. (2019). Fermentationenabled wellness foods: A fresh perspective. *Food Science and Human Wellness*. Volume 8, Issue 3. <u>doi</u>: org/10.1016/j.fshw.2019.08.003.
- **14.** Maicas S. (2020). The Role of Yeasts in Fermentation Processes. *Microorganisms*. 8(8):1142. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8081142.
- 15. McGovern P.E., Zhang J., Tang J., Zhang Z., Hall G.R., Moreau R.A., Nuñez A., Butrym E.D., Richards M.P., Wang C.S., et al. (2004). Fermented beverages of pre- and proto-historic China. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004 Dec 21;101(51):17593-8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407921102.
- 16. McGovern P., Jalabadze M., Batiuk S., Callahan M.P., Smith K.E., Hall G.R., Kvavadze E., Maghradze D., Rusishvili N., Bouby L., et al. (2017). Early Neolithic wine of Georgia in the South Caucasus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 114(48): E10309-E10318. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1714728114.
- Evershed R.P., Payne S., Sherratt A.G., Copley M.S., Coolidge J., Urem-Kotsu D., Kotsakis K., Ozdoğan M., Ozdoğan A.E., Nieuwenhuyse O., et al. (2008). Earliest date for milk use in the Near East and southeastern Europe linked to cattle herding. *Nature*. 455(7212):528-31. doi: 10.1038/nature07180.
- **18.** Barnett J.A. (2003). Beginnings of microbiology and biochemistry: the contribution of yeast research. *Microbiology (Reading)*. 149(Pt 3):557-567. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.26089-0.
- **19.** Fisberg M., Machado R. (2015). History of yogurt and current patterns of consumption. *Nutr Rev.* 73 Suppl 1:4-7. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv020.
- Petrova P., Ivanov I., Tsigoriyna L., Valcheva N., Vasileva E., Parvanova-Mancheva T., Arsov A., Petrov K. (2021). Traditional Bulgarian Dairy Products: Ethnic Foods with Health Benefits. *Microorganisms*. 9(3):480. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9030480.
- **21.** Bintsis T. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria as starter cultures: An update in their metabolism and genetics. *AIMS Microbiol.* 4(4):665-684. doi: 10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.665.

- 22. Mora-Villalobos J.A., Montero-Zamora J., Barboza N., Rojas-Garbanzo C., Usaga J., Redondo-Solano M., Schroedter L., Olszewska-Widdrat A., López-Gómez J.P. (2020). Multi-Product Lactic Acid Bacteria Fermentations: A Review. *Fermentation*. 6(1),23. doi.org/10.3390/fermentation6010023.
- **23.** Mokoena M.P. (2017). Lactic Acid Bacteria and Their Bacteriocins: Classification, Biosynthesis and Applications against Uropathogens: A Mini-Review. *Molecules*. 22(8):1255. doi: 10.3390/molecules22081255.
- 24. Papadimitriou K., Kline K., Renault P., Kok J. (2020). Editorial: Omics and Systems Approaches to Study the Biology and Applications of Lactic Acid Bacteria. *Front Microbiol.* 11:1786. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01786.
- **25.** Ayivi R.D., Gyawali R., Krastanov A., Aljaloud S.O., Mulumebet Worku M., Tahergorabi R., Claro da Silva R., Ibrahim S.A. (2020). Lactic Acid Bacteria: Food Safety and Human Health Applications. *Dairy*. 1, 202–232. doi: 10.3390/dairy1030015.
- **26.** Gänzle M.G. (2015). Lactic metabolism revisited: metabolism of lactic acid bacteria in food fermentations and food spoilage. *Current Opinion in Food Science*.Volume 2. doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2015.03.001.
- Melini F., Melini V., Luziatelli F., Ficca A.G., Ruzzi M. (2019). Health-Promoting Components in Fermented Foods: An Up-to-Date Systematic Review. *Nutrients*. 11(5):1189. doi: 10.3390/nu11051189.
- 28. Nguyen P.T., Nguyen T.T., Bui D.C., Hong P.T., Hoang Q.K., Nguyen H.T. (2020). Exopolysaccharide production by lactic acid bacteria: the manipulation of environmental stresses for industrial applications. *AIMS Microbiol.* 6(4):451-469. doi: 10.3934/microbiol.2020027.
- 29. Somashekaraiah R., Shruthi B., Deepthi B.V., Sreenivasa M.Y. (2019). Probiotic Properties of Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Neera: A Naturally Fermenting Coconut Palm Nectar. *Front Microbiol.* 10:1382. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.01382.
- **30.** Fijan S. (2014). Microorganisms with claimed probiotic properties: an overview of recent literature. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 11(5):4745-67. doi: 10.3390/ijerph110504745.
- **31.** Zagato E., Mileti E., Massimiliano L., Fasano F., Budelli A., Penna G., Rescigno M. (2014). Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74 metabolic products and fermented milk for infant formula have anti-inflammatory activity on dendritic cells in vitro and protective effects against colitis and an enteric pathogen in vivo. *PLoS One.* 9(2): e87615. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087615.
- 32. Nocerino R., Paparo L., Terrin G., Pezzella V., Amoroso A., Cosenza L., Cecere G., De Marco G., Micillo M., Albano F., et al. (2017). Cow's milk and rice fermented with Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74 prevent infectious diseases in children: A randomized controlled trial. *Clin Nutr*. 36(1):118-125. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.12.004.

- 33. Corsello G., Carta M., Marinello R., Picca M., De Marco G., Micillo M., Ferrara D., Vigneri P., Cecere G., Ferri P., et al. (2017). Preventive Effect of Cow's Milk Fermented with Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74 on Common Infectious Diseases in Children: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Nutrients*. 9(7):669. doi: 10.3390/nu9070669. PMID: 28654019.
- **34.** Paparo L., Aitoro R., Nocerino R., Fierro C., Bruno C., Berni Canani R. (2018). Direct effects of fermented cow's milk product with Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74 on human enterocytes. *Benef Microbes*. 9(1):165-172. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0038.
- 35. Berni Canani R., De Filippis F., Nocerino R., Laiola M., Paparo L., Calignano A., De Caro C., Coretti L., Chiariotti L., Gilbert J.A., et al. (2017). Specific Signatures of the Gut Microbiota and Increased Levels of Butyrate in Children Treated with Fermented Cow's Milk Containing Heat-Killed Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* 83(19): e01206-17. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01206-17
- 36. Rao R.K., Samak G. (2013). Protection and Restitution of Gut Barrier by Probiotics: Nutritional and Clinical Implications. *Curr Nutr Food Sci.* 9(2):99-107. doi: 10.2174/1573401311309020004.
- **37.** Kim J.J., Khan W.I. (2013). Goblet cells and mucins: role in innate defense in enteric infections. *Pathogens*. 2(1):55-70. doi: 10.3390/pathogens2010055.
- **38.** Muniz L.R., Knosp C., Yeretssian G. (2012). Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection, and disease. *Front Immunol.* 3:310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310.
- **39.** Pelaseyed T., Bergström J.H., Gustafsson J.K., Ermund A., Birchenough G.M., Schütte A., van der Post S., Svensson F., Rodríguez-Piñeiro A.M., Nyström E.E., et al. (2014). The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system. *Immunol Rev.* 260(1):8-20. doi: 10.1111/imr.12182.
- **40.** Yang S., Yu M. (2021). Role of Goblet Cells in Intestinal Barrier and Mucosal Immunity. *J Inflamm Res.* 14:3171-3183. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S318327.
- **41.** Díaz-Coránguez M., Liu X., Antonetti D.A. (2019). Tight Junctions in Cell Proliferation. *Int J Mol Sci.* 20(23):5972. doi: 10.3390/ijms20235972.
- **42.** Chelakkot C., Ghim J., Ryu S.H. (2018). Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. *Exp Mol Med.* 50(8):1-9. doi: 10.1038/s12276-018-0126-x.
- **43.** Kaminsky L.W., Al-Sadi R., Ma T.Y. (2021). IL-1β and the Intestinal Epithelial Tight Junction Barrier. *Front Immunol.* 12:767456. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.767456.
- **44.** Ling X., Linglong P., Weixia D., Hong W. (2016). Protective Effects of Bifidobacterium on Intestinal Barrier Function in LPS-Induced Enterocyte Barrier Injury of Caco-2 Monolayers and in a Rat NEC Model. *PLoS One.* 11(8): e0161635. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161635.

- **45.** Mohseni A.H., Casolaro V., Bermúdez-Humarán L.G., Keyvani H., Taghinezhad-S S. (2021). Modulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway by probiotics as a fruitful target for orchestrating the immune response. *Gut Microbes*. 13(1):1-17. doi:10.1080/19490976.2021.1886844.
- **46.** Enserink R., Lugnér A., Suijkerbuijk A., Bruijning-Verhagen P., Smit H.A., van Pelt W. (2014). Gastrointestinal and respiratory illness in children that do and do not attend child day care centers: a cost-of-illness study. *PLoS One*. 9(8): e104940. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104940.
- **47.** Ibfelt T., Engelund E.H., Permin A., Madsen J.S., Schultz A.C., Andersen L.P. (2015). Presence of Pathogenic Bacteria and Viruses in the Daycare Environment. *J Environ Health*. 78(3):24-9.
- **48.** Zheng D., Liwinski T., Elinav E. (2020). Interaction between microbiota and immunity in health and disease. *Cell Res.* 30(6):492-506. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0332-7.
- 49. Hojsak I., Močić Pavić A., Kos T., Dumančić J., Kolaček S. (2016). Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis in prevention of common infections in healthy children attending day care centers Randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin Nutr.* 35(3):587-91. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.05.004.
- **50.** Churchill R.B., Pickering L.K. (1997). Infection control challenges in child-care centers. *Infect Dis Clin North Am.* 11(2):347-65. doi: 10.1016/s0891-5520(05)70360-3.
- 51. Merenstein D., Murphy M., Fokar A., Hernandez R.K., Park H., Nsouli H., Sanders M.E., Davis B.A., Niborski V., Tondu F., et al. (2010). Use of a fermented dairy probiotic drink containing Lactobacillus casei (DN-114 001) to decrease the rate of illness in kids: the DRINK study. A patient-oriented, double-blind, cluster-randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 64(7):669-77. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2010.65.
- **52.** Chiappini E., Santamaria F., Marseglia G.L., Marchisio P., Galli L., Cutrera R., de Martino M., Antonini S., Becherucci P., Biasci P., et al. (2021). Prevention of recurrent respiratory infections:Inter-society Consensus. *Ital J Pediatr*.47(1):211. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01150-0.
- 53. Hasan H., Nasirudeen N.A., Ruzlan M.A.F., Mohd Jamil M.A., Ismail N.A.S., Wahab A.A., Ali A. (2021). Acute Infectious Gastroenteritis: The Causative Agents, Omics-Based Detection of Antigens and Novel Biomarkers. *Children (Basel)*. 8(12):1112. doi: 10.3390/children8121112.
- 54. Clark H.F., Marcello A.E., Lawley D., Reilly M., DiNubile M.J. (2010). Unexpectedly high burden of rotavirus gastroenteritis in very young infants. *BMC Pediatr*. 10:40. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-10-40.
- 55. Ibfelt T., Engelund E.H., Schultz A.C., Andersen L.P. (2015). Effect of cleaning and disinfection of toys on infectious diseases and micro-organisms in daycare nurseries. *J Hosp Infect*. 89(2):109-15. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2014.10.007.
- 56. Brady M.T. (2005). Infectious disease in pediatric out-of-home child care. *Am J Infect Control.* 33(5):276-85. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2004.11.007.

- **57.** Martín R., Miquel S., Ulmer J., Kechaou N., Langella P., Bermúdez-Humarán L.G. (2013). Role of commensal and probiotic bacteria in human health: a focus on inflammatory bowel disease. *Microb Cell Fact.* 12:71. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-12-71.
- **58.** Underwood M.A., Mukhopadhyay S., Lakshminrusimha S., Bevins C.L. (2020). Neonatal intestinal dysbiosis. *J Perinatol.* 40(11):1597-1608. doi: 10.1038/s41372-020-00829-2.
- 59. Rinninella E., Raoul P., Cintoni M., Franceschi F., Miggiano G.A.D., Gasbarrini A., Mele M.C. (2019). What is the Healthy Gut Microbiota Composition? A Changing Ecosystem across Age, Environment, Diet, and Diseases. *Microorganisms*. 7(1):14. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms7010014.
- **60.** Belizário J.E., Faintuch J. (2018). Microbiome and Gut Dysbiosis. *Exp Suppl*. 109:459-476. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-74932-7\_13.
- 61. De Filippis F., Paparo L., Nocerino R., Della Gatta G., Carucci L., Russo R., Pasolli E., Ercolini D., Berni Canani R. (2021). Specific gut microbiome signatures and the associated proinflamatory functions are linked to pediatric allergy and acquisition of immune tolerance. *Nat Commun.* 12(1):5958. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-26266-z.
- 62. Singh R., Zogg H., Wei L., Bartlett A., Ghoshal U.C., Rajender S., Ro S. (2021). Gut Microbial Dysbiosis in the Pathogenesis of Gastrointestinal Dysmotility and Metabolic Disorders. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil.* 27(1):19-34. doi: 10.5056/jnm20149.
- **63.** Sarkar A., Yoo J.Y., Valeria Ozorio Dutra S., Morgan K.H., Groer M. (2021). The Association between Early-Life Gut Microbiota and Long-Term Health and Diseases. *J Clin Med.* 10(3):459. doi: 10.3390/jcm10030459.
- 64. Dinan T.G., Kennedy P.J., Morais L.H., Murphy A., Long-Smith C.M., Moloney G.M., Bastiaanssen T.F.S., Allen A.P., Collery A, Mullins D., et al. (2021). Altered stress responses in adults born by Caesarean section. *Neurobiol Stress*. 16:100425. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100425.
- **65.** Shao Y., Forster S.C., Tsaliki E., Vervier K., Strang A., Simpson N., Kumar N., Stares M.D., Rodger A., Brocklehurst P., et al. (2019). Stunted microbiota and opportunistic pathogen colonization in caesarean-section birth. *Nature*. 574(7776):117-121. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1560-1.
- 66. Thavagnanam S., Fleming J., Bromley A., Shields M.D., Cardwell C.R. (2008). A meta-analysis of the association between Caesarean section and childhood asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 38(4):629-33. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007. 02780.x.
- **67.** Pistiner M., Gold D.R., Abdulkerim H., Hoffman E., Celedón J.C. (2008). Birth by cesarean section, allergic rhinitis, and allergic sensitization among children with a parental history of atopy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 122(2):274-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.05.007.

- **68.** Thursby E., Juge N. (2017). Introduction to the human gut microbiota. *Biochem J.* 474(11):1823-1836. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160510.
- **69.** Carding S., Verbeke K., Vipond D.T., Corfe B.M., Owen L.J. (2015). Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disease. *Microb Ecol Health Dis.* 26:26191. doi: 10.3402/mehd. v26.26191.
- 70. Martinez J.E., Kahana D.D., Ghuman S., Wilson H.P., Wilson J., Kim S.C.J., Lagishetty V., Jacobs J.P., Sinha-Hikim A.P., Friedman T.C. (2021). Unhealthy Lifestyle and Gut Dysbiosis: A Better Understanding of the Effects of Poor Diet and Nicotine on the Intestinal Microbiome. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 12:667066. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.667066.
- 71. Posovszky C., Buderus S., Classen M., Lawrenz B., Keller K.M., Koletzko S. (2020). Acute Infectious Gastroenteritis in Infancy and Childhood. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* 117(37):615-624. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2020.0615.
- 72. Troeger C., Khalil I.A., Rao P.C., Cao S., Blacker B.F., Ahmed T., Armah G., Bines J.E., Brewer T.G., Colombara D.V., et al. (2021). Rotavirus Diarrhea Among Children Younger Than 5 Years. *JAMA Pediatr*. 172(10):958-965. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1960.
- 73. Tate J.E., Burton A.H., Boschi-Pinto C., Parashar U.D, World Health Organization– Coordinated Global Rotavirus Surveillance Network. Global, Regional, and National Estimates of Rotavirus Mortality in Children <5 Years of Age, 2000-2013. *Clin Infect Dis.* 62 Suppl 2: S96-S105. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ1013.
- 74. Crawford S.E., Ramani S., Tate J.E., Parashar U.D., Svensson L., Hagbom M., Franco M.A., Greenberg H.B., O'Ryan M., Kang G., Desselberger U., et al. (2017). Rotavirus infection. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 3:17083. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.83.
- **75.** Ramig RF. (2004). Pathogenesis of intestinal and systemic rotavirus infection. *J Virol.* 78(19):10213-20. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.19.10213-10220.2004.
- 76. World Health Organization. (2009). Rotavirus vaccines: an update. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec.* 84:533-40. PMID: 20034143.
- **77.** Desselberger U. (2017). Differences of Rotavirus Vaccine Effectiveness by Country: Likely Causes and Contributing Factors. *Pathogens*. 6(4):65. doi: 10.3390/pathogens6040065.
- **78.** Tohmé M.J., Delgui L.R. (2021). Advances in the Development of Antiviral Compounds for Rotavirus Infections. *mBio.* 12(3): e00111-21. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00111-21.
- 79. Sambuy Y., De Angelis I., Ranaldi G., Scarino M.L., Stammati A., Zucco F. (2005). The Caco-2 cell line as a model of the intestinal barrier: influence of cell and culture-related factors on Caco-2 cell functional characteristics. *Cell Biol Toxicol.* 21(1):1-26. doi: 10.1007/s10565-005-0085-6.

- 80. Bojarski C., Gitter A.H., Bendfeldt K., Mankertz J., Schmitz H., Wagner S., Fromm M., Schulzke J.D. (2001). Permeability of human HT-29/B6 colonic epithelium as a function of apoptosis. *J Physiol.* 535(Pt 2):541-52. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00541. x.
- 81. Bojarski C., Weiske J., Schöneberg T., Schröder W., Mankertz J., Schulzke J.D., Florian P., Fromm M., Tauber R., Huber O. (2004). The specific fates of tight junction proteins in apoptotic epithelial cells. *J Cell Sci.* 117(Pt 10):2097-107. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01071.
- Arnold M., Patton J.T., McDonald S.M. (2009). Culturing, storage, and quantification of rotaviruses. *Curr Protoc Microbiol*. Chapter 15: Unit 15C.3. doi: 10.1002/9780471729259.mc15c03s15.
- **83.** Londrigan S.L., Hewish M.J., Thomson M.J., Sanders G.M., Mustafa H., Coulson B.S. (2000). Growth of rotaviruses in continuous human and monkey cell lines that vary in their expression of integrins. *J Gen Virol.* 81(Pt 9):2203-2213. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-81-9-2203.
- **84.** Atzrodt C.L., Maknojia I., McCarthy R.D.P., Oldfield T.M., Po J., Ta K.T.L., Stepp H.E., Clements T.P. (2020). A Guide to COVID-19: a global pandemic caused by the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. *FEBS J.* 287(17):3633-3650. doi: 10.1111/febs.15375.
- **85.** Passariello M., Gentile C., Ferrucci V., Sasso E., Vetrei C., Fusco G., Viscardi M., Brandi S., Cerino P., Zambrano N., et al. (2021). Novel human neutralizing mAbs specific for Spike-RBD of SARS-CoV-2. *Sci Rep.* 11(1):11046. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90348-7.
- 86. Paparo L., Bruno C., Ferrucci V., Punzo E., Viscardi M., Fusco G., Cerino P., Romano A., Zollo M., Berni Canani R. (2021). Protective effects elicited by cow milk fermented with L. paracasei CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2 infection in human enterocytes. *J Funct Foods*. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2021.104787.
- **87.** Chen Y., Guo Y., Pan Y., Zhao Z.J. (2020). Structure analysis of the receptor binding of 2019nCoV. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 525(1):135–40. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.02.071.
- 88. Zang R., Gomez Castro M.F., McCune B.T., Zeng Q., Rothlauf P.W., Sonnek N.M., Liu Z., Brulois K.F., Wang X., Greenberg H.B., et al. (2020). TMPRSS2 and TMPRSS4 promote SARS-CoV-2 infection of human small intestinal enterocytes. *Sci Immunol.* 5(47): eabc3582. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abc3582.
- 89. Hoffmann M., Kleine-Weber H., Schroeder S., Krüger N., Herrler T., Erichsen S., Schiergens T.S., Herrler G., Wu N.H., Nitsche A., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. *Cell*. 181(2):271-280.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052.
- **90.** Shang J., Wan Y., Luo C., Ye G., Geng Q., Auerbach A., Li F. (2020). Cell entry mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 117(21):11727-11734. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2003138117.

- **91.** Lowery S.A., Sariol A., Perlman S. (2021). Innate immune and inflammatory responses to SARS-CoV-2: Implications for COVID-19. *Cell Host Microbe*. 29(7):1052-1062. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2021.05.004.
- **92.** Mehta P., McAuley D.F., Brown M., Sanchez E., Tattersall R.S., Manson J.J; HLH Across Speciality Collaboration, UK. (2020). COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. *Lancet.* 395(10229):1033-1034. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0.
- *93.* Mangalmurti N., Hunter C.A. (2020). Cytokine Storms: Understanding COVID-19. *Immunity*. 53(1):19-25. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.06.017.
- 94. Ferrucci V., Kong D.Y., Asadzadeh F., Marrone L., Boccia A., Siciliano R., Criscuolo G., Anastasio C., Quarantelli F., Comegna M., et al. (2021). Long-chain polyphosphates impair SARS-CoV-2 infection and replication. *Sci Signal*. 14(690): eabe5040. doi: 10.1126/scisignal. abe5040.
- 95. Chu H., Chan J.F., Yuen T.T., Shuai H., Yuan S., Wang Y., Hu B., Yip C.C., Tsang J.O., Huang X., et al. (2020). Comparative tropism, replication kinetics, and cell damage profiling of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV with implications for clinical manifestations, transmissibility, and laboratory studies of COVID-19: an observational study. *Lancet Microbe*. 1(1): e14-e23. doi: 10.1016/S2666-5247(20)30004-5.
- 96. Shuai H., Chu H., Hou Y., Yang D., Wang Y., Hu B., Huang X., Zhang X., Chai Y., Cai J.P., et al. (2020). Differential immune activation profile of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV infection in human lung and intestinal cells: Implications for treatment with IFN-β and IFN inducer. *J Infect.* 81(4): e1-e10. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.07.016.
- **97.** Mukhopadhyay U., Banerjee A., Chawla-Sarkar M., Mukherjee A. (2021). Rotavirus Induces Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Markers by Transcriptional Suppression of miRNA-29b. *Front Microbiol.* 12:631183. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.631183.
- 98. Zambrano J.L., Sorondo O., Alcala A., Vizzi E., Diaz Y., Ruiz M.C., Michelangeli F., Liprandi F., Ludert J.E. (2012). Rotavirus infection of cells in culture induces activation of RhoA and changes in the actin and tubulin cytoskeleton. *PLoS One*. 7(10): e47612. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047612
- **99.** Han M.Y., Kosako H., Watanabe T., Hattori S. (2007). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase regulates actin organization and cell motility by phosphorylating the actin cross-linking protein EPLIN. *Mol Cell Biol.* 27(23):8190-204. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00661-07.
- 100. Chaïbi C., Cotte-Laffitte J., Sandré C., Esclatine A., Servin A.L., Quéro A.M., Géniteau-Legendre M. (2005). Rotavirus induces apoptosis in fully differentiated human intestinal Caco-2cells. *Virology*. 332(2):480-90. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2004.11.039.

- **101.** Guo Y.J., Pan W.W., Liu S.B., Shen Z.F., Xu Y., Hu L.L. (2020). ERK/MAPK signalling pathway and tumorigenesis. *Exp Ther Med.* 19(3):1997-2007. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.8454.
- 102. Jagodzik P., Tajdel-Zielinska M., Ciesla A., Marczak M., Ludwikow A. (2018). Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Cascades in Plant Hormone Signaling. *Front Plant Sci.* 9:1387. doi:10.3389/fpls.2018.01387.
- 103. Papa S., Choy P.M., Bubici C. (2019). The ERK and JNK pathways in the regulation of metabolic reprogramming. *Oncogene*. 38(13):2223-2240. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0582-8. Epub 2018 Nov 28.
- 104. Fong Y., Wu C.Y., Chang K.F., Chen B.H., Chou W.J., Tseng C.H., Chen Y.C., Wang H.D., Chen Y.L., Chiu C.C. (2017). Dual roles of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in quinoline compound BPIQ-induced apoptosis and anti-migration of human non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Cell Int.* 17:37. doi: 10.1186/s12935-017-0403-0.
- 105. Wang L., Kuang Z., Zhang D., Gao Y., Ying M., Wang T. (2021). Reactive oxygen species in immune cells: A new antitumor target. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 133:110978. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110978.
- **106.** Bhattacharyya A., Chattopadhyay R., Mitra S., Crowe S.E. (2014). Oxidative stress: an essential factor in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal mucosal diseases. *Physiol Rev.* 94(2):329-54. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00040.2012.
- 107. Liu Z., Ren Z., Zhang J., Chuang C.C., Kandaswamy E., Zhou T., Zuo L. (2018). Role of ROS and Nutritional Antioxidants in Human Diseases. *Front Physiol*. 9:477. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00477.
- *108.* Sabio G., Davis R.J. (2014). TNF and MAP kinase signalling pathways. *Semin Immunol*. 26(3):237-45. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2014.02.009.
- 109. Min C.K., Lee W.Y., Min D.J., Lee D.G., Kim Y.J., Park Y.H., Kim H.J., Lee S., Kim D.W., Lee J.W., Min W.S., Kim C.C. (2001). The kinetics of circulating cytokines including IL-6, TNF-alpha, IL-8 and IL-10 following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 28(10):935-40. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1703258.
- **110.** Coperchini F., Chiovato L., Croce L., Magri F., Rotondi M. (2020). The cytokine storm in COVID-19: An overview of the involvement of the chemokine/chemokine-receptor system. *Cytokine Growth Factor* Rev. 53:25-32. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.05.003.
- **111.** Tsilingiri K., Rescigno M. (2013). Postbiotics: what else? *Benef Microbes*. 4(1):101-7. doi: 10.3920/BM2012.0046.

- 112. Salminen S., Collado M.C., Endo A., Hill C., Lebeer S., Quigley E.M.M., Sanders M.E., Shamir R., Swann J.R., Szajewska H., et al. (2021). The International Scientific Association ofProbiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of postbiotics. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 18(9):649-667. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00440-6.
- 113. Mantziari A., Salminen S., Szajewska H., Malagón-Rojas J.N. (2020). Postbiotics against Pathogens Commonly Involved in Pediatric Infectious Diseases. *Microorganisms*. 8(10):1510.doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8101510.
- 114. Salazar-Lindo E., Figueroa-Quintanilla D., Caciano M.I., Reto-Valiente V., Chauviere G., Colin P.; Lacteol Study Group. (2007). Effectiveness and safety of Lactobacillus LB in the treatment of mild acute diarrhea in children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* 44(5):571-6. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3180375594.
- **115.** Wu P.K., Becker A., Park J.I. (2020). Growth Inhibitory Signaling of the Raf/MEK/ERK Pathway. *Int J Mol Sci.* 21(15):5436. doi: 10.3390/ijms21155436.
- **116.** Wortzel I., Seger R. (2011). The ERK Cascade: Distinct Functions within Various Subcellular Organelles. *Genes Cancer*. 2(3):195-209. doi: 10.1177/1947601911407328.
- **117.** Diehl N., Schaal H. (2013). Make yourself at home: viral hijacking of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. *Viruses*. 5(12):3192-212. doi: 10.3390/v5123192.
- **118.** Vanhaesebroeck B., Stephens L., Hawkins P. (2012). PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 13(3):195-203. doi: 10.1038/nrm3290.
- 119. Soliman M., Seo J.Y., Kim D.S., Kim J.Y., Park J.G., Alfajaro M.M., Baek Y.B., Cho E.H., Kwon J., Choi J.S., et al. (2018). Activation of PI3K, Akt, and ERK during early rotavirus infection leads to V-ATPase-dependent endosomal acidification required for uncoating. *PLoS Pathog.* 14(1): e1006820. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006820.
- 120. Patra U., Mukhopadhyay U., Mukherjee A., Dutta S., Chawla-Sarkar M. (2021). Treading a HOSTile path: Mapping the dynamic landscape of host cell-rotavirus interactions to explore novel host-directed curative dimensions. *Virulence*. 12(1):1022-1062. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2021.1903198.
- 121. Aggarwal S., Suzuki T., Taylor W.L., Bhargava A., Rao R.K. (2011). Contrasting effects of ERK on tight junction integrity in differentiated and under-differentiated Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Biochem J.* 433(1):51-63. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100249.
- **122.** Thoo L., Noti M., Krebs P. (2019). Keep calm: the intestinal barrier at the interface of peace and war. *Cell Death Dis.* 10(11):849. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-2086-z.

- 123. Nava P., López S., Arias C.F., Islas S., González-Mariscal L. (2004). The rotavirus surface protein VP8 modulates the gate and fence function of tight junctions in epithelial cells. *J Cell Sci.* 117(Pt 23):5509-19. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01425.
- 124. Dickman K.G., Hempson S.J., Anderson J., Lippe S., Zhao L., Burakoff R, Shaw R.D. (2000). Rotavirus alters paracellular permeability and energy metabolism in Caco-2 cells. *Am JPhysiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 279(4): G757-66. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.2000.279.4. G757.
- 125. Obert G., Peiffer I., Servin A.L. (2000). Rotavirus-induced structural and functional alterations in tight junctions of polarized intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers. *J Virol.* 74(10):4645-51. doi: 10.1128/jvi.74.10.4645-4651.2000.
- **126.** Guerrero C.A., Acosta O. (2016). Inflammatory and oxidative stress in rotavirus infection. *World J Virol.* 5(2):38-62. doi: 10.5501/wjv. v5. i2.38.
- 127. Buccigrossi V., Laudiero G., Russo C., Miele E., Sofia M., Monini M., Ruggeri F.M., Guarino A. (2014). Chloride secretion induced by rotavirus is oxidative stress-dependent and inhibited by Saccharomyces boulardii in human enterocytes. *PLoS One*. 9(6): e99830. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099830.
- 128. Zhang J., Wang X., Vikash V., Ye Q., Wu D., Liu Y., Dong W. (2016). ROS and ROS-Mediated Cellular Signaling. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016:4350965. doi: 10.1155/2016/4350965.
- 129. Frias A.H., Vijay-Kumar M., Gentsch J.R., Crawford S.E., Carvalho F.A., Estes M.K., Gewirtz A.T. (2010). Intestinal epithelia activate anti-viral signaling via intracellular sensing ofrotavirus structural components. *Mucosal Immunol*.3(6):622-32. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.39.
- **130.** Sen N., Che X., Rajamani J., Zerboni L., Sung P., Ptacek J., Arvin A.M. (2012). Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and survivin induction by varicella-zostervirus promote replication and skin pathogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 109(2):600-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1114232109.
- **131.** McCubrey J.A., Lahair M.M., Franklin R.A. (2006). Reactive oxygen species-induced activation of the MAP kinase signaling pathways. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* 8(9-10):1775-89. doi:10.1089/ars.2006.8.1775.
- *132.* Torres M., Forman H.J. (2003). Redox signaling and the MAP kinase pathways. *Biofactors*. 17(1-4):287-96. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520170128.
- **133.** Archer D.L., Kramer D.C. (2020). The Use of Microbial Accessible and Fermentable Carbohydrates and/or Butyrate as Supportive Treatment for Patients with Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Front Med (Lausanne)*. 7:292. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00292.
- 134. Zhou P., Yang X.L., Wang X.G., Hu B., Zhang L., Zhang W., Si H.R., Zhu Y., Li B., HuangC.L., et al. (2020). A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature*. 579(7798):270-273. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7.
- **135.** Huang Y., Yang C., Xu X.F., Xu W., Liu S.W. (2020). Structural and functional properties of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein: potential antivirus drug development for COVID-19. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* 41(9):1141-1149. doi: 10.1038/s41401-020-0485-4.

- 136. Buszko M., Nita-Lazar A., Park J.H., Schwartzberg P.L., Verthelyi D., Young H.A., Rosenberg AS. (2021). Lessons learned: new insights on the role of cytokines in COVID-19. *Nat Immunol.* 22(4):404-411.doi: 10.1038/s41590-021-00901-9.
- **137.** Yeoh Y.K., Zuo T., Lui G.C., Zhang F., Liu Q., Li A.Y., Chung A.C., Cheung C.P., TsoE.Y., Fung K.S., et al. (2021). Gut microbiota composition reflects disease severity and dysfunctional immune responses in patients with COVID-19. *Gut.* 70(4):698-706. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323020.
- **138.** Qian G., Zhang Y., Xu Y., Hu W., Hall I.P., Yue J., Lu H., Ruan L., Ye M., Mei J. (2021). Reduced inflammatory responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection in children presenting to hospital with COVID-19 in China. *EClinicalMedicine*. 34:100831. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100831.
- **139.** Coomes E.A., Haghbayan H. (2020). Interleukin-6 in Covid-19: A systematic review andmeta-analysis. *Rev Med Virol.* 30(6):1-9. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2141.
- 140. Khan F.A., Stewart I., Fabbri L., Moss S., Robinson K., Smyth A.R., Jenkins G. (2021). Systematic reviewand meta-analysis of anakinra, sarilumab, siltuximab and tocilizumab forCOVID-19. *Thorax*. 76(9):907-919. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-215266.
- 141. Atal S., Fatima Z. (2020). IL-6 Inhibitors in the Treatment of Serious COVID-19: A Promising Therapy? *Pharmaceut Med.* 34(4):223-231. doi: 10.1007/s40290-020-00342-z.
- 142. Peter A.E., Sandeep B.V., Rao B.G., Kalpana V.L. (2021). Calming the Storm: Natural Immunosuppressants as Adjuvants to Target the Cytokine Storm in COVID-19. *Front Pharmacol*. 11:583777. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.583777.
- **143.** Hering N.A., Andres S., Fromm A., van Tol E.A., Amasheh M., Mankertz J., Fromm M., Schulzke J.D. (2011). Transforming growth factor-β, a whey protein component, strengthens the intestinal barrier by upregulating claudin-4 in HT-29/B6 cells. *J Nutr*. 141(5):783-9. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.137588.
- 144. Marshall K. (2004). Therapeutic applications of whey protein. *Altern Med Rev.* 9(2):136-56. PMID:15253675.
- 145. Playford R.J., Macdonald C.E., Johnson W.S. (2000). Colostrum and milk-derived peptidegrowth factors for the treatment of gastrointestinal disorders. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 72(1):5-14. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.1.5.
- 146. Vinderola G., Matar C., Palacios J., Perdigón G. (2007). Mucosal immunomodulation by thenon-bacterial fraction of milk fermented by Lactobacillus helveticus R389. *Int J Food Microbiol*. 115(2):180-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2006.10.020.
- **147.** *World Health Organization.* Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Weekly EpidemiologicalUpdate and Weekly Operational Update).

# 9.0 Tables and Figures

# Table 1. Ingredients utilized for cow milk fermentation

Ingredients	% w/v
Skimmed milk (powder)	10.5
Water	87.5
Dextrose	2

# Table 2. Composition of the study dietary products

Value for 100 gr of product	Fermented milk with	Non-fermented milk
	L.paracasei CBA L74	
Proteins, g	24.0	35.0
Carbohydrates, g	66.4	54.0
Fats, g	0.6	1.0
рН	6.2	6.2
<i>L. paracasei</i> CBA L74, CFU <sup>1</sup>	5.9 x 10 <sup>9</sup>	-

<sup>1</sup>Killed Bacteria

Figure 1. The plant located in the "Kraft Heinz Innovation center"











Figure 4. Effects of FM-CBAL74 on cellular damage in Rotavirus- infected human enterocytes

A)



(A) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence. VP6 protein was visualized using VP-6 Alexa Fluor-594 (red) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Cells were observed through confocal. The addition of FM-CBAL74 to RV for up to 6 hours before infection (MIX FM-CBA74+RV) or pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV) resulted in no significant modulation of RV infectivity. Scale bar, 200 μm.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; Mix FM-CBAL74+RV, fermented cow milk with FM-CBAL74 and RV; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.



(B) Intensity mean value of VP6 are shown. (C) The quantification by VP6 by RT-PCR confirmed the results obtained in IF staining. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. \*p<0.05 vs NI; °p<0.05 vs NFM+RV. *NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; Mix FM-CBAL74+RV, fermented cow milk with FM-CBAL74 and RV; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre- treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.* 

C)

67



(**D**) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence. Actin was visualized using phalloidin- TRITC (red) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). *Rotavirus*-infected enterocytes showed a marked alteration of cytoskeleton structure with a disorganization of F-actin filaments. NI showed a regular distribution of cytoskeleton actin filaments. Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV), but not with NFM (NFM+RV), protected the cells against RV-induced F-actin filaments rearrangements. Scale bar, 10 µm. *NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L. paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.* 



E)

Annexin V

(E) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Apoptotic cellrate was assessed by Annexin V assay using flow cytometry. An increase in necrotic cells (positive only for propidium, PI) and late apoptotic cells (positive for both PI and Annexin V) confirmed the pro-apoptotic effect induced by RV infection compared to non- infected cells. Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV), but not with NFM (NFM+RV), prevented these effects.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.



(F) The histograms show the percentage of cell distribution in early apoptosis (positive for Annexin V staining), (G) late apoptosis (double positive for both Annexin V and PI staining), (H) and necrotic cells (single positive for PI staining). (I) Summary graph of cell distribution in apoptosis analysis. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. \*p<0.05 *vs* NI; #p<0.05 *vs* RV; °p<0.05 *vs* NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.

# Figure 5. Effects of FM-CBAL74 on MAP kinases pathway activation in *Rotavirus*-infected human enterocytes



(A-B) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Western blot assay of phosphor-ERK/total ERK (A) and phosphor-JNK/total JNK (B) was performed on protein extracts from Caco-2 cells. *Rotavirus* infection induced MAP kinases ERK, and JNK expression significantly increased compared with non-infected cells (NI). Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV), but not with NFM (NFM+RV), down-regulated this pro-inflammatory pathway in Caco-2 cells. The amounts of these proteins and of  $\alpha$ -tubulin, and GAPDH, were measured by Western blot. The histogram below shows optical density of the proteins, obtained with Image Lab software. Relative quantification of proteins was normalized versus  $\alpha$ -tubulin and GAPDH proteins and was calculated using the ratio between phosphorylated and total proteins. The figure showed representative image of three experiments qualitatively similar. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. \*p<0.05 *vs* NI; #p<0.05 *vs* RV; °p<0.05 *vs* NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.



Figure 6. Effects of FM-CBAL74 on gut permeability in Rotavirus-infected human enterocytes

A)

Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. \*p<0.05 vs NI; #p<0.05 vs RV; °p<0.05 vs NFM+RV.

with SD of 3independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.

(A) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h.

Rotavirus infection affect intestinal epithelial permeability, as demonstrated by TEER measurement up to 72 hours of

incubation. Pre- incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV) significantly inhibited this effect. Data represent the means

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L. paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.

72


(**B**) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Cells were processed for mRNA and immunofluorescence analysis. Occludin was visualized using anti-rabbit Alexa 488 (green) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Cells were observed through confocal microscope in the *zy-plane. Rotavirus* infection elicited a significant reduction of TJ occludin in Caco-2 cells compared to non-infected cells. Pre-treatment of RV-infected cells with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV) significantly prevented occludin mRNA (**Right image**) and protein (**Left image**) reduction in Caco-2 cells monolayer. NFM was unable to modulate the expression of occludin in RV-infected cells. Scale bar, 10 μm. \*p<0.05 *vs* NI; #p<0.05 *vs* RV; °p<0.05 *vs* NFM+RV. *NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.* 



(C) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence. ZO-1 was visualized using anti-rabbit Alexa 488 (green) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Cells were observed through confocal microscope in the *zy-plane. Rotavirus* infection elicited a significant reduction of ZO-1 in Caco-2 cells compared to non-infected cells. Pre-treatment of RV-infected cells with FM-CBAL74 significantly prevented ZO-1 mRNA (**Right image**) and protein (**Left image**) reduction in Caco-2 cells monolayer. NFM was unable to modulate the expression of ZO-1 in RV- infected cells. Scale bar, 10  $\mu$ m. \*p<0.05 *vs* NI; #p<0.05 *vs* RV; °p<0.05 *vs* NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L. paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.



(**D**) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. Cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence. E-cadherin was visualized using anti-mouse Alexa 488 (green) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). *Rotavirus* infection reduced E-cadherin expression compared to non-infected cells. Pre-incubation of RV-infected cells with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV) significantly prevented the reduction of E-cadherin expression in Caco-2 cells monolayer. NFM was unable to modulate the expression of E-cadherin in RV-infected cells. (**E**) Intensity mean value of E-cadherin are shown. Scale bar, 10  $\mu$ m. \*p<0.05 *vs* NI; #p<0.05 *vs* RV; °p<0.05 *vs* NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.

Figure 7. Effects of FM-CBAL74 on ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokines production in *Rotavirus*-infected human enterocytes



A)

Time (min)

(A) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. *Rotavirus* induced a significant increase in ROS production in a time-dependent manner. Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74+RV), but not with NFM (NFM+RV), significantly inhibited the RV-induced increase in ROS. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was used as a positive control.

Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.

Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test. \*p<0.05 vs NI; #p<0.05 vs RV; °p<0.05 vs NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L. paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.



(**B-D**) Caco-2 cells were infected with RV at 25 ffu/cell and pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48h. The supernatants were collected for ELISA assays. *Rotavirus* elicited a significant increase in IL-6 (**B**), IL-8 (**C**) and TNF- $\alpha$  (**D**) production. Pre-incubation with FM-CBA L74(FM-CBAL74+RV), but not with NFM (NFM+RV), significantly inhibited the RV-induced increase in IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  production in Caco-2 cells. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA test.

\*p<0.05 vs NI; #p<0.05 vs RV; °p<0.05 vs NFM+RV.

NI, non-infected cells; RV, Rotavirus; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; FM-CBAL74+RV, pre-treatment with FM-CBAL74 and infection with RV; NFM, not fermented milk, NFM+RV, pre-treatment with NFM and infection with RV.

# Figure 8. Effects of FM-CBAL74 on infectivity, ACE2, TMPRSS2 and pro-inflammatory cytokines expression in SARS- CoV-2 infected human enterocytes



(A) Caco-2 cells were infected with 0.1 MOI of WT SARS-CoV-2 pretreated with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74 or NFM for 48 h. Cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence. N protein was visualized using anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 594 (green) and nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Cells were observed through confocal microscopy. SARS-CoV-2 infection in Caco-2 cells was confirmed by the quantification of N protein by immunofluorescence staining. The pretreatment with FM-CBAL74 resulted in the reduction of SARS-CoV-2 infected cells. Scale bar, 20 µm.

(B) Quantification of N gene of viral RNA by RT-PCR analysis. The pretreatment with FM-CBAL74 inhibited N gene transcription in SARS-CoV-2 infected cells. Data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA test. #p = 0.011 vs SARS-CoV-2.

SARS-CoV-2, cells infected with WT SARS-CoV-2; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L. paracasei CBA L74; NFM, not fermented milk.

78



(C) Pre-incubation with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, significantly down-regulated ACE2 expression in Caco-2 cells exposed to SARS-CoV-2. No modulation was observed for TMPRSS2 expression. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA test. #p = 0.006 vs SARS-CoV-2.



(**D**) For ACE2 protein analysis, representative image of three experiments qualitatively similar was reported. Western blot assay of ACE2 was performed on protein extracts from SARS-CoV-2 infected Caco-2 cells. The amounts of ACE2 and β-actin were measured by Western blot. The histogram below shows optical density of the protein, obtained with Image Lab software. Pre-incubation with FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, significantly reduced ACE2 protein level in Caco-2 cells exposed to SARS-CoV-2. Relative quantification of proteins was normalized versus β-actin protein and was calculated using SARS-CoV-2 as calibrator. *SARS-CoV-2, cells infected with WT SARS-CoV-2; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBA L74; NFM, not fermented milk.* 



(E) Pre-incubation with 11.5 mg/mL of FM-CBAL74, but not with NFM, significantly reduced the IL-6, VEGFB, IL-15 and IL-1 $\beta$  expression in Caco-2 cells exposed to SARS-CoV-2. Data represent the means with SD of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.Data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA test. \*p < 0.001 *vs* SARS-CoV-2.

SARS-CoV-2, cells infected with WT SARS-CoV-2; FM-CBAL74, fermented milk L.paracasei CBAL74; NFM, not fermented milk.

# Figure 9. Fermented food FM-CBAL74 exerts a preventive action in SARS- CoV-2 infected human enterocytes



Gene	Primer	Primer sequence
IL-6	Forward	CTCGACGGCATCTCAGCC
	Reverse	GCCTCTTTGCTGCTTTCACAC
IL-15	Forward	CAGTTGCAAAGTAACAGCAATGAA
	Reverse	GCATCTCCGGACTCAAGTGAA
IL-1β	Forward	CTTTGAAGCTGATGGCCCTAA
	Reverse	CGCCATCCAGAGGGCAG
VEGFB	Forward	AGAAGGAGGAGGGCAGAATCA
	Reverse	GATGGCAGTAGCTGCGCTG
TNF-a	Forward	CTTCTGCCTGCTGCACTTTG
	Reverse	TGATTAGAGAGAGGTCCCTGGG
MCP1	Forward	CTATAGAAGAATCACCAGCAGCAGCAAGT
	Reverse	TCTCCTTGGCCACAATGGTC
CXCL1	Forward	GCGCCCAAACCGAAGTCATA
	Reverse	ATGGGGGATGCAGGATTGAG

Table 3. Sequences of the primers used for the analysis of pro-inflammatory cytokines

*IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-15, interleukin-15; IL-1β, interleukin-1 beta; VEGFB, Vascular endothelial growth factor B; TNF-α, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; MCP1, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; CXCL1, C-X-C Motif chemokine ligand 1.* 

#### 10.0 Publications in the last 3 years

Adv Exp Med Biol - Advances in Microbiology, Infectious Diseases and Public Health (2019) 1125: 57–68 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2018\_316 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 Published online: 26 January 2019



### **Targeting Food Allergy with Probiotics**

Lorella Paparo, Rita Nocerino, Carmen Di Scala, Giusy Della Gatta, Margherita Di Costanzo, Aniello Buono, Cristina Bruno, and Roberto Berni Canani

#### Abstract

The dramatic increase in food allergy prevalence and severity globally is demanding effective strategies. Food allergy derives from a defect in immune tolerance mechanisms. Immune tolerance is modulated by gut

L. Paparo, R. Nocerino, C. Di Scala, G. Della Gatta, and M. Di Costanzo

Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l., University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

A. Buono

CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l., University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

#### C. Bruno

Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

#### R. Berni Canani (🖂)

Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l., University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Task Force on Microbiome Investigation, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy e-mail: berni@unina.it microbiota composition and function, and gut microbiota dysbiosis has been associated with the development of food allergy. Selected probiotic strains could act on immune tolerance mechanisms. The mechanisms are multiple and still not completely defined. Increasing evidence is providing useful information on the choice of optimal bacterial species/strains, dosage, and timing for intervention. The increased knowledge on the crucial role played by gut microbiota-derived metabolites, such as butyrate, is also opening the way to a postbiotic approach in the stimulation of immune tolerance.

#### Keywords

Butyrate · Cow's milk allergy · Gut microbiota · Immune tolerance · Post-biotics · Probiotics

#### Abbreviations

BLG	β-lactoglobulin

- CMA cow's milk allergy
- EHCF extensively hydrolyzed casein formula
- FA food allergy
- LAB lactic acid bacteria
- LGG Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG
- OIT oral food immunotherapy
- OVA ovalbumin
- PBMCs peripheral blood mononuclear cells

Authors Lorella Paparo, Rita Nocerino, Carmen Di Scala, Giusy Della Gatta and Margherita Di Costanzo have been equally contributed to this chapter.

REVIEW published: 15 February 2019 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00191





## Gut Microbiome as Target for Innovative Strategies Against Food Allergy

Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>, Lorella Paparo<sup>1,3</sup>, Rita Nocerino<sup>1,3</sup>, Carmen Di Scala<sup>1,3</sup>, Giusy Della Gatta<sup>1,3</sup>, Ylenia Maddalena<sup>1</sup>, Aniello Buono<sup>1,3</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>1,3</sup>, Luana Voto<sup>1</sup> and Danilo Ercolini 4.5

Department of Translational Medical Science - Pediatric Section, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy, <sup>2</sup> European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy, <sup>3</sup> ImmunoNutritionLab at CEINGE-Advanced Biotechnologies, University of Naples "Federico II", Nagles, Italy, <sup>4</sup> Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy, 5 Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Nils Yngve Lycke, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

frontiers

in Immunology

#### Reviewed by:

M. Cecilia Berin. Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States Javier Ochoa-Reparaz. Eastern Washington University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Roberto Berni Canani berni@unina.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity. a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 July 2018 Accepted: 22 January 2019 Published: 15 February 2019

#### Citation:

Berni Canani R, Paparo L, Nocerino R, Di Scala C. Della Gatta G. Maddalena Y, Buono A, Bruno C, Voto L and Ercolini D (2019) Gut Microbiome as Target for Innovative Strategies Against Food Allergy. Front, Immunol. 10:191. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00191 The dramatic increase in food allergy prevalence and severity globally requires effective strategies. Food allergy derives from a defect in immune tolerance mechanisms. Immune tolerance is modulated by gut microbiota function and structure, and microbiome alterations (dysbiosis) have a pivotal role in the development of food allergy. Environmental factors, including a low-fiber/high-fat diet, cesarean delivery, antiseptic agents, lack of breastfeeding, and drugs can induce gut microbiome dysbiosis, and have been associated with food allergy. New experimental tools and technologies have provided information regarding the role of metabolites generated from dietary nutrients and selected probiotic strains that could act on immune tolerance mechanisms. The mechanisms are multiple and still not completely defined. Increasing evidence has provided useful information on optimal bacterial species/strains, dosage, and timing for intervention. The increased knowledge of the crucial role played by nutrients and gut microbiota-derived metabolites is opening the way to a post-biotic approach in the stimulation of immune tolerance through epigenetic regulation. This review focused on the potential role of gut microbiome as the target for innovative strategies against food allergy.

Keywords: immune tolerance, gut microbiota, mediterranean diet, dysbiosis, probiotics, gut microbiota metabolites, short chain fatty acids, butyrate

#### INTRODUCTION

#### The Changing Scenario of Food Allergy

Food allergy (FA) is one of the most common allergic disorders in the pediatric age, and it has been considered as a global health problem, particularly in industrialized world (1). During the last two decades, studies have suggested that the epidemiology of FA has shown a dramatic increase in the prevalence, severity of clinical manifestations and risk of persistence into later ages, leading to an increase in medical visits, hospital admissions, treatments, burden of care on families, and economic impact, with an increase of costs for the families and healthcare system (2-4). According to the most recent epidemiological data, time trend analysis showed up to a 7-fold increase in hospital admissions for food severe allergic reactions in children in the

# Scientific **reports**

Received: 28 September 2018 Accepted: 9 January 2019 Published online: 26 February 2019

# **OPEN** Randomized controlled trial on the influence of dietary intervention on epigenetic mechanisms in children with cow's milk allergy: the EPICMA study

Lorella Paparo 14, Rita Nocerino14, Cristina Bruno14, Carmen Di Scala14, Linda Cosenza1 Giorgio Bedogni 2, Margherita Di Costanzo<sup>1</sup>, Maurizio Mennini 3, Valeria D'Argenio 4,5,7, Francesco Salvatore 04,5,7 & Roberto Berni Canani 01,4,6,7

Epigenetic mechanisms could drive the disease course of cow's milk allergy (CMA) and formula choice could modulate these pathways. We compared the effect of two different dietary approaches on epigenetic mechanisms in CMA children. Randomized controlled trial on IgE-mediated CMA children receiving a 12-month treatment with extensively hydrolyzed casein formula containing the probiotic L.rhamnosus GG (EHCF + LGG) or with soy formula (SF). At the baseline, after 6 and 12 months of treatment FoxP3 methylation rate and its expression in CD4+T cells were assessed. At same study points IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IFN-7 methylation rate, expression and serum concentration, miRNAs expression were also investigated. 20 children (10/group) were evaluated. Baseline demographic, clinical and epigenetic features were similar in the two study groups. At 6 and 12 months, EHCF + LGG group showed a significant increase in FoxP3 demethylation rate compared to SF group. At the same study points, EHCF + LGG group presented a higher increase in IL-4 and IL-5 and a higher reduction different epigenetic modulation on the immune system in CMA children.

Cow's milk allergy (CMA) is one of the most frequent food allergies (FAs) in the pediatric age<sup>1</sup>, and is the leading cause of food-induced anaphylaxis in Italian children<sup>2</sup>. CMA prevalence and persistence have been on the rise under the pressure of gene environment interactions leading to immune system dysfunction, mediated at least in part by epigenetic mechanisms<sup>54</sup>. Preliminary cross-sectional pilot studies supperts that epigenetic mechanisms drive CMA disease course<sup>5-7</sup>. Immune tolerance is defined as the active suppression of specific immune responses to dietary antigens in the gastrointestinal tract. A subset of regulatory dendritic cells (DCs), expressing CD103, is responsible for delivery of antigen to the draining lymph node and induction of regulatory T cells (Tregs)<sup>4</sup>. Tregs play a pivotal role in immune tolerance<sup>8</sup>. Forkhead box P3 (*FoxP3*) is the major transcription factor that modulates the fate of Tregs<sup>10,11</sup>. The methylation status of FoxP3 is regulated within a highly conserved region within the Treg-specific demethylated region (TSDR), a CpG-rich region<sup>12</sup>. Results from a pilot study showed different *FoxP3* demethylation status comparing CMA children with active disease with those with recent evidence of immune tolerance acquisition<sup>6</sup>. Dietary factors exert a pivotal role in the regulation of epigenetic mechanisms' We observed a significant difference in DNA methylation of T helper (Th)1/Th2 cytokine genes in children who

<sup>1</sup>Department of Translational Medical Science, University Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>2</sup>Clinical Epidemiology Unit, Liver Research Center, Basovizza, Trieste, Italy. <sup>3</sup>Hospital Bambino Gesù in Rome, Vatican City, Italy. <sup>4</sup>CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l., University Federico II, Naples, Italy. 5 Department of Molecular Medicine and Medical Biotechnologies, University Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>4</sup>European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>7</sup>Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University Federico II, Naples, Italy. Lorella Paparo and Rita Nocerino contributed equally. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to R.B.C. (email: berni@unina.it)

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS | (2019) 9:2828 | https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-38738-w

1

### The therapeutic efficacy of *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* BB-12<sup>®</sup> in infant colic: A randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled trial

Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup> | Francesca De Filippis<sup>3,4</sup> | Gaetano Cecere<sup>1</sup> | Antonio Marino<sup>1</sup> | Maria Micillo<sup>1</sup> | Carmen Di Scala<sup>1,2</sup> | Carmen de Caro<sup>5</sup> | Antonio Calignano<sup>5</sup> | Cristina Bruno<sup>1,2</sup> | Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2</sup> | Anna M. Iannicelli<sup>1</sup> | Linda Cosenza<sup>1,2</sup> | Ylenia Maddalena<sup>1,2</sup> | Giusy della Gatta<sup>1,2</sup> | Serena Coppola<sup>1,2</sup> | Laura Carucci<sup>1,2</sup> | Danilo Ercolini<sup>3,4</sup> | Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,4,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy <sup>2</sup>CEINGE Advanced Biotechnologies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>3</sup>Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Naples Federico II, Portici, Italy

<sup>4</sup>Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmacy, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>6</sup>European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

#### Correspondence

Prof. Dr. Roberto Berni Canani, Department of Translational Medical Science— Pediatric Section, CEINGE—Advanced Biotechnologies, European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food Induced Diseases, Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples "Federico II", Via S. Pansini 5 80131 Naples, Italy. Email: berni@unina.it

#### **Funding information**

This work was funded by Sofar S.p.A., Trezzano Rosa, Milan, Italy. However, Sofar S.p.A. has no influence on: (a) the conduction of study: (b) the collection, analysis and interpretation of the data; (c) the writing of the manuscript; or (d) the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

#### Summary

Background: The pathogenesis of infant colic is poorly defined. Gut microbiota seems to be involved, supporting the potential therapeutic role of probiotics.

Aims: To assess the rate of infants with a reduction of ≥50% of mean daily crying duration after 28 days of intervention with the probiotic *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* BB-12<sup>®</sup> (BB-12). Secondary outcomes were daily number of crying episodes, sleeping time, number of bowel movements and stool consistency.

**Methods:** Randomized controlled trial (RCT) on otherwise healthy exclusively breastfed infants with infant colic randomly allocated to receive BB-12 ( $1 \times 10^9$  CFU/day) or placebo for 28 days. Gut microbiota structure and butyrate, beta-defensin-2 (HBD-2), cathelicidin (LL-37), secretory IgA (sIgA) and faecal calprotectin levels were assessed. **Results:** Eighty infants were randomised, 40/group. The rate of infants with reduction of ≥50% of mean daily crying duration was higher in infants treated with BB-12, starting from the end of 2nd week. No infant relapsed when treatment was stopped. The mean number of crying episodes decreased in both groups, but with a higher effect in BB-12 group ( $-4.7 \pm 3.4$  vs  $-2.3 \pm 2.2$ , P < 0.05). Mean daily stool frequency decreased in both groups but the effect was significantly higher in the BB-12 group; stool consistency was similar between the two groups. An increase in *Bifidobacterium* abundance (with significant correlation with crying time reduction), butyrate and HBD-2, LL-37, sIgA levels associated with a decrease in faecal calprotectin level were observed in the BB-12 group.

**Conclusions:** Supplementation with BB-12 is effective in managing infant colic. The effect could derive from immune and non-immune mechanisms associated with a modulation of gut microbiota structure and function.



natureresearch

Check for updates

# **OPEN** Protective action of *Bacillus clausii* probiotic strains in an in vitro model of Rotavirus infection

Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2,6</sup>, Lorella Tripodi<sup>2,6</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>2</sup>, Laura Pisapia<sup>1,2</sup>, Carla Damiano<sup>1</sup>, Lucio Pastore<sup>2,3,5</sup> & Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,4,5</sup>

Rotavirus is the most common cause of acute gastroenteritis (AGE) in young children. Bacillus clausii (B. clausii) is a spore-forming probiotic that is able to colonize the gut. A mixture of four B. clausii strains (O/C, T, SIN and N/R) is commonly used for the treatment of AGE, and it has been demonstrated that it can reduce the duration and severity of diarrhea in children with AGE. Few studies have sought to characterize the mechanisms responsible for such beneficial effects. Intestinal effects of probiotics are likely to be strain-specific. We conducted a series of in vitro experiments investigating the activities of this mixture of B. clausii strains on biomarkers of mucosal barrier integrity and immune function in a cellular model of Rotavirus infection. B. clausii protected enterocytes against Rotavirus-induced decrease in trans-epithelial electrical resistance, and up-regulated expression of mucin 5AC and tight junction proteins (occludin and zonula occludens-1), all of which are important for effective mucosal barrier function. B. clausii also inhibited reactive oxygen species production and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (interleukin-8 and interferon-β) in Rotavirus-infected cells, and down-regulated pro-inflammatory Toll-like receptor 3 pathway gene expression. Such mechanisms likely contributed to the observed protective effects of B. clausii against reduced cell proliferation and increased apoptosis in Rotavirus-infected enterocytes.

Acute gastroenteritis (AGE), defined as sudden-onset diarrhea that is unrelated to chronic disease, with or without nausea, vomiting, fever or abdominal pain, is disproportionately common among young children1. Rotavirus (RV) is the most common cause of AGE and the leading cause of AGE-associated mortality in children younger than 5 years of age2-6. In 2016, more than 258 million episodes of diarrhea and approximately 1.5 million hospitalizations and 128,500 deaths in children younger than 5 years were attributable to RV infection globally27. The highest rates of RV-associated mortality have been reported in sub-Saharan Africa, Southeast Asia, and South Asia<sup>7</sup>. The high cost of RV vaccination precludes its widespread use in such low-income settings<sup>8</sup>. However, even in developed countries, AGE remains a considerable burden, despite the implementation of RV vaccination programs7. For example, routine RV vaccination was introduced in 2006 in the US, but there were 70,553 AGE-associated hospital admissions, about 20,000 due to RV infection, among US children younger than 5 years in 2013, which were associated with direct costs of more than US \$226 million?.

Probiotics are living microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host after colonizing the gut, and can help to prevent and treat AGE by supporting a healthy gut and immune system<sup>10,11</sup>. Short- and long-term beneficial effects of probiotics on the gut are the result of a range of mechanisms, including competitive exclusion and direct antagonism of gut pathogens, stimulation of host mucosal immune mechanisms, and reconstitution and enhancement of intestinal barrier function<sup>3,11,12</sup>. However, not all such beneficial effects can be ascribed to probiotics as a general class, as effects occurring at the intestinal or extra-intestinal level are likely to be strain-specific11

Bacillus clausii (B. clausii) is a rod-shaped, spore-forming, aerobic, Gram-positive probiotic bacterium that is acid resistant and able to colonize the gut<sup>13-16</sup>. Data suggest that a mixture of four B. clausii probiotic strains (O/C,

<sup>1</sup>Department of Translational Medical Science-Pediatric Section, University of Naples "Federico II", Via S. Pansini 5, 80131 Naples, Italy. <sup>2</sup>CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate S.C.Ar.L., University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>3</sup>Department of Molecular Medicine and Biotechnology, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy. "European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>5</sup>Task Force on Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy. <sup>6</sup>These authors contributed equally: Lorella Paparo and Lorella Tripodi. Eemail: berni@unina.it

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69533-7

### Editorial: interventions in infantile colic – can efficacy be attributed to treatment or to time? Authors' reply

We thank Dr lacovou<sup>1</sup> for the interest in our paper describing the therapeutic efficacy of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp lactis BB-12 (BB-12) in infantile colic.<sup>2</sup> We agree with Dr lacovou, the age at enrolment is crucial for randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on infantile colic, which usually peaks at around 6 weeks of age with progressive symptoms resolution by 3-6 months of age.<sup>3,4</sup> For these reasons, with the aim to reduce the risk of bias related to the self-limited nature of infantile colic, we planned to evaluate in our 4-week trial only infants aged <7 w. A similar design was adopted by others.<sup>5-7</sup> All infants evaluated in our RCT were aged <6 weeks at enrolment, and we observed significant impact of BB-12 on daily crying duration and the number of crying episodes starting from the second week of therapy (before the age of 3 months in all subjects).

Actually, dietary intervention for the lactating mothers has not been included in the management of infantile colic because the intervention could have negative impact on maternal-infant interaction and on the longer term continuation of breastfeeding.<sup>8</sup> However, recent data suggest possible benefit deriving from reduced FODMAP content in maternal diet. If confirmed by future studies, this strategy could change that opinion.<sup>9</sup> In our study, the possible influence of maternal dietary factors or changes in dietary habits was assessed by analyzing data from 7-day food diary collected at baseline and during the last week of treatment. No dietary changes were observed during the study.

Regarding the diagnosis of infantile colic, it was defined according to the best diagnostic criteria available when the trial was designed (the Rome III Criteria: paroxysms of irritability, fussing or crying that start and stop without obvious cause; with episodes lasting ≥3 hours per day and occurring at least 3 days per week for at least 1 week; and no failure to thrive).<sup>10</sup> In Figure S2, we reported just one of the three symptoms that should be considered for the

© 2020 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

diagnosis of infantile colic and, as described in the text, at baseline the difference between the two study groups was not significant.

Dr lacovou suggested to use a new score to assess stool pattern, but this method only became available in November 2018 when our RCT was already completed. Moreover, as stated in the text, infants did not take pre/pro/synbiotics, anti-colic medications or supplementation with other nutritious fluids during the study.

In a well-defined study population of colicky infants, we investigated simultaneously clinical outcomes and potential mechanisms of action of a well-characterized probiotic strain. We think that data on the good safety profile of the probiotic strain, impressive clinical results together with modulation of gut inflammation and microbiota structure and function justify the statement of 'compelling evidence' for the efficacy of BB-12 in the treatment of infantile colic.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors' declarations of personal and financial interests are unchanged from those in the original article.<sup>2</sup>

#### LINKED CONTENT

This article is linked to Nocerino et al and lacovou papers. To view these articles, visit https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.15561 and https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.15599.

Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup> Francesca De Filippis<sup>3,4</sup> Gaetano Cecere<sup>1</sup> Antonio Marino<sup>1</sup> Maria Micillo<sup>1</sup> Carmen Di Scala<sup>1,2</sup> Carmen de Caro<sup>5</sup>



## Tolerogenic Effect Elicited by Protein Fraction Derived From Different Formulas for Dietary Treatment of Cow's Milk Allergy in Human Cells

Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2</sup>, Gianluca Picariello<sup>3</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>1,2</sup>, Laura Pisapia<sup>1,2</sup>, Valentina Canale<sup>1,2</sup>, Antonietta Sarracino<sup>1,2</sup>, Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup>, Laura Carucci<sup>1,2</sup>, Linda Cosenza<sup>1,2</sup>, Tommaso Cozzolino<sup>1</sup> and Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy, <sup>2</sup> CEINGE Advanced Biotechnologies, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Institute of Food Sciences, National Research Council (CNR), Aveilino, Italy, <sup>4</sup> European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>5</sup> Task Force for Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Julia Szekeres-Bartho, University of Pécs, Hungary

#### Reviewed by:

Alexander Steinkasserer, University Hospital Erlangen, Germany Dominique M. A. Bullens, KU Leuven, Belgium

#### \*Correspondence:

Roberto Berni Canani berni@unina.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 September 2020 Accepted: 29 December 2020 Published: 12 February 2021

#### Citation:

Paparo L, Picariello G, Bruno C, Pisapia L, Canale V, Sarracino A, Nocerino R, Carucci L, Cosenza L, Cozzolino T and Berri Canani R (2021) Tolerogenic Effect Elicited by Protein Fraction Derived From Different Formulas for Dietary Treatment of Cow's Mik Allergy in Human Cells. Front. Immunol. 11:604075. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.604075 Several formulas are available for the dietary treatment of cow's milk allergy (CMA). Clinical data suggest potentially different effect on immune tolerance elicited by these formulas. We aimed to comparatively evaluate the tolerogenic effect elicited by the protein fraction of different formulas available for the dietary treatment of CMA. Five formulas were compared: extensively hydrolyzed whey formula (EHWF), extensively hydrolyzed casein formula (EHCF), hydrolyzed rice formula (HRF), soy formula (SF), and amino acid-based formula (AAF). The formulas were reconstituted in water according to the manufacturer's instructions and subjected to an in vitro infant gut simulated digestion using a sequential gastric and duodenal static model. Protein fraction was then purified and used for the experiments on non-immune and immune components of tolerance network in human enterocytes and in peripheral mononuclear blood cells (PBMCs). We assessed epithelial layer permeability and tight junction proteins (occludin and zonula occludens-1, ZO-1), mucin 5AC, IL-33, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) in human enterocytes. In addition, Th1/Th2 cytokine response and Tregs activation were investigated in PBMCs from IgE-mediated CMA infants. EHCF-derived protein fraction positively modulated the expression of gut barrier components (mucin 5AC, occludin and ZO-1) in human enterocytes, while SF was able to stimulate the expression of occludin only. EHWF and HRF protein fractions elicited a significant increase in TSLP production, while IL-33 release was significantly increased by HRF and SF protein fractions in human enterocytes. Only EHCF-derived protein fraction elicited an increase of the tolerogenic cytokines production (IL-10, IFN-)) and of activated CD4+FoxP3+ Treg number, through NFAT, AP1, and Nf-Kb1 pathway. The effect paralleled with an up-regulation of FoxP3 demethylation rate. Protein fraction from all the study formulas was unable to induce Th2 cytokines production. The results suggest a different regulatory action on tolerogenic mechanisms elicited by protein fraction from different formulas commonly used for CMA management. EHCF-derived protein fraction was able to elicit tolerogenic effect through at least in part



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

#### Journal of Functional Foods



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jff

# Protective effects elicited by cow milk fermented with *L. Paracasei* CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2 infection in human enterocytes

Lorella Paparo<sup>a,b</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>a,b</sup>, Veronica Ferrucci<sup>b,c</sup>, Erika Punto<sup>a,b</sup>, Maurizio Viscardi<sup>d</sup>, Giovanna Fusco<sup>d</sup>, Pellegrino Cerino<sup>d</sup>, Alessia Romano<sup>b</sup>, Massimo Zollo<sup>b,c</sup>, Roberto Berni Canani<sup>a,b,e,f,g,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples, "Federico II", Naples, Italy

<sup>b</sup> CEINGE - Advanced Biotechnologies Research Center s.c.ar.l., University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

<sup>6</sup> Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie Mediche (DMMBM), University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

<sup>d</sup> DAI Medicina di Laboratorio e Trasfusionale, AOU Anlenda Ospedaliera, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy <sup>a</sup> European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples, "Federico II", Naples, Italy

<sup>1</sup> Task Force for Microbiome Studies, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

8 Task Force for Nutraceuticals and Functional Foods, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: COVID-19 Fermented foods Viral infection Angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 Transmembrane protease serine 2 Intestinal infection

#### ABSTRACT

Fermented foods have been proposed in limiting SARS-CoV-2 infection. Emerging evidence suggest the efficacy of cow's milk fermented with the probiotic *L* paracasei CBAL74 (FM-CBAL74) in preventing infectious diseases. We evaluated the protective action of FM-CBAL74 against SARS-CoV-2 infection in human enterocytes. Relevant aspects of SARS-CoV-2 infection were assessed: infectivity, host functional receptor angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2), transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2), and pro-inflammatory cytokines expression (IL-6, IL-15, IL-16, VEGF6, TNF-α, MCP-1, CXCL1).

Pre-incubation with FM-CBA L74 reduced the number of infected cells. The expression of ACE2 and the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, VEGF $\beta$ , IL-15, IL-1 $\beta$  was downregulated by the pre-treatment with this fermented food. No effect on TMPRSS2, MCP-1, TNF-a and CXCL1 expression was observed.

Modulating the crucial aspects of the infection, the fermented food FM-CBAL74 exerts a preventive action against SARS-CoV-2. These evidence could pave the way to innovative nutritional strategy to mitigate the COVID-19.

#### 1. Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an ongoing pandemic caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (Atzrodt et al., 2020). Gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms (such as diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, anorexia and abdominal pain) are commonly presented by COVID-19 patients, since human enterocytes express high level of angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) receptor, and other cell components for SARS-CoV-2 binding and replication (Berni Canani et al., 2021; Chen, Guo, Pan, & Zhao, 2020; Zang et al., 2020). The spike (S) protein of SARS-CoV-2 bindis to the host functional ACE2 receptor through its receptor-binding domain. Then, the activation of S-protein by transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) facilitates viral entry into target cells (Hoffmann et al., 2020; Shang et al., 2020). Viral infection leads to the release of massive amounts of inflammatory cytokines, defined as "cytokine storm" (Lowery, Sariol, & Perlman, 2021; Mehta et al., 2020). The cytokine storm attempts to eliminate the infecting virus, but, in the process, collateral damage to human tissue occurs as well (Mangalmurti & Hunter, 2020). Thus, the GI tract is a target organ for SARS-CoV-2 infection, it is the body's largest immune organ, and exerts a pivotal role in eliciting the cytokine storm in COVID-19 patients (Archer & Kramer, 2020).

Alteration in gut microbiome composition was found in COVID-19 patients, with a reduction of bacteria with relevant immunomodulatory action, such as *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and several bifidobacterial species (Gu et al., 2020; Yeoh et al., 2021; Zuo et al., 2020).

E-mail address: berni@unina.it (R. Berni Canani).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2021.104787

Received 27 July 2021; Received in revised form 21 September 2021; Accepted 30 September 2021 Available online 5 October 2021

1756-4646/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Chief of the Pediatric Allergy Program at the Department of Translational Medical Science, Chief of ImmunoNutritionLab at CEINGE – Advanced Biotechnologies Research Center, University of Naples, "Federico II", Via S. Pansini, 5, 80131 Naples, Italy.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE Basic and Translational Allergy Immunology

# Butyrate as a bioactive human milk protective component against food allergy

Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2,3</sup> | Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup> | Elena Ciaglia<sup>4</sup> | Carmen Di Scala<sup>1,2</sup> | Carmen De Caro<sup>5</sup> | Roberto Russo<sup>5</sup> | Giovanna Trinchese<sup>6</sup> | Rosita Aitoro<sup>1</sup> | Antonio Amoroso<sup>1</sup> | Cristina Bruno<sup>1,2</sup> | Margherita Di Costanzo<sup>1,2</sup> | Annalisa Passariello<sup>1,7</sup> | Francesco Messina<sup>8</sup> | Annalisa Agangi<sup>8</sup> | Marcello Napolitano<sup>8</sup> | Luana Voto<sup>1</sup> | Giusy Della Gatta<sup>1,2</sup> | Laura Pisapia<sup>1,2</sup> | Francesco Montella<sup>4</sup> | Maria Pina Mollica<sup>6</sup> | Antonio Calignano<sup>5</sup> | Annibale Puca<sup>3,9</sup> | Roberto Berni Canani<sup>1,2,3,10</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>2</sup>ImmunoNutritionLab at the CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.I Research Center, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>3</sup>European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, Surgery and Dentistry "Scuola Medica Salernitana", University of Salerno, Fisciano, Italy

<sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmacy, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>6</sup>Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

<sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Monaldi Hospital, Naples, Italy

<sup>8</sup>Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, "Betania" Evangelical Hospital, Naples, Italy <sup>9</sup>Cardiovascular Research Unit, IRCCS

MultiMedica, Milan, Italy <sup>10</sup>Task Force for Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples,

Italy

#### Correspondence

Roberto Berni Canani, Chief of the Pediatric Allergy Program at the Department of Translational Medical Science; Chief of the ImmunoNutritionLab at CEINGE - Advanced Biotechnologies, University of Naples "Federico II" Via S. Pansini 5 80131 Naples, Italy. Email: berni@unina.it

#### Abstract

Background: Food allergy (FA) is a growing health problem worldwide. Effective strategies are advocated to limit the disease burden. Human milk (HM) could be considered as a protective factor against FA, but its mechanisms remain unclear. Butyrate is a gut microbiota-derived metabolite able to exert several immunomodulatory functions. We aimed to define the butyrate concentration in HM, and to see whether the butyrate concentration detected in HM is able to modulate the mechanisms of immune tolerance.

Allergy ----- & WILEY

Methods: HM butyrate concentration from 109 healthy women was assessed by GS-MS. The effect of HM butyrate on tolerogenic mechanisms was assessed in *in vivo* and *in vitro* models.

**Results:** The median butyrate concentration in mature HM was 0.75 mM. This butyrate concentration was responsible for the maximum modulatory effects observed in all experimental models evaluated in this study. Data from mouse model show that in basal condition, butyrate up-regulated the expression of several biomarkers of gut barrier integrity, and of tolerogenic cytokines. Pretreatment with butyrate significantly reduced allergic response in three animal models of FA, with a stimulation of tolerogenic cytokines, inhibition of Th2 cytokines production and a modulation of oxidative stress. Data from human cell models show that butyrate stimulated human beta defensin-3, mucus components and tight junctions expression in human enterocytes, and IL-10, IFN-γ and FoxP3 expression through epigenetic mechanisms in PBMCs from FA children. Furthermore, it promoted the precursors of M2 macrophages, DCs and regulatory T cells.

Conclusion: The study's findings suggest the importance of butyrate as a pivotal HM compound able to protect against FA.

Lorella Paparo and Rita Nocerino equally contributed to this paper.

© 2020 The Authors. Allergy published by European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

1398 wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/all

Allergy. 2021;76:1398-1415.

# *molecules*



Ritamaria di Lorenzo<sup>1</sup>, Antonietta Bernardi<sup>1</sup>, Lucia Grumetto<sup>1</sup>, Antonia Sacchi<sup>1</sup>, Carmen Avagliano<sup>1</sup>, Serena Coppola<sup>2,3</sup>, Anna Fiorenza de Giovanni di Santa Severina<sup>2,3</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>2,3</sup>, Lorella Paparo<sup>2,3</sup>, Sonia Laneri<sup>1,\*</sup> and Irene Dini<sup>1,\*</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Pharmacy, University of Naples Federico II, Via Domenico Montesano 49, 80131 Napoli, Italy; ritamaria.dilorenzo@unina.it (R.d.L.); antonietta.bernardi@unina.it (A.B.); lucia.grumetto@unina.it (L.G.); antonia.sacchi@unina.it (A.S.); carmen.avagliano@unina.it (C.A.)
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Via Sergio Pansini 5, 80131 Naples, Italy; serenacoppola@gmail.com (S.C.); fiorenzadegiovanni@gmail.com (A.F.d.G.d.S.S.); cristina.bruno@unina.it (C.B.); paparolorella@gmail.com (L.P.)
- <sup>3</sup> ImmunoNutritionLab at the CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l Research Center, University of Naples Federico II, 80131 Naples, Italy
- Correspondence: slaneri@unina.it (S.L.); irdini@unina.it (I.D.)



Citation: di Lorenzo, R.; Bernardi, A.; Grumetto, L.; Sacchi, A.; Avagliano, C.; Coppola, S.; de Giovanni di Santa Severina, A.F.; Bruno, C.; Paparo, L.; Laneri, S.; et al. Phenylalanine Butyramide Is a New Cosmetic Ingredient with Soothing and Anti-Reddening Potential. *Molecules* 2021, 26, 6611. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules26216611

Academic Editor: Aman Ullah

Received: 14 October 2021 Accepted: 29 October 2021 Published: 31 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ Abstract: Human skin is colonized by diverse commensal microbes, making up the skin microbiota (SM), contributing to skin integrity and homeostasis. Many of the beneficial effects aroused by the SM are exerted by microbial metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), including butyric acid. The SCFAs can be used in cosmetic formulations against skin diseases to protect SM by preserving and/or restoring their natural balance. Unpleasant sensorial properties and unfavorable physico-chemical properties of butyrate strongly limit its cosmetic use. In contrast, some butyrate derivatives, including phenylalanine butyramide ( $C_{13}H_{18}N_2O_2$ , FBA), a solid form of butyric acid, are odorless while retaining the pharmacokinetic properties and safety profile of butyric acid. This study assessed the FBA's permeation across the skin and its soothing and anti-reddening potential to estimate its cosmetic application. The dosage method used to estimate FBA's levels was validated to be sure of analytical results. The FBA diffusion tests were estimated in vitro using a Franz-type vertical diffusion cell. The soothing action was evaluated in vivo by Colorimeter CL400, measuring the erythema index. The results suggest that the FBA represents an innovative way to exploit the benefits of butyric acid in the cosmetic fields since it cannot reach the bloodstream, is odorless, and has a significative soothing action (decrease the erythema index -15.7% after 30', and -17.8% after 60').

Keywords: butyrate; skin microbiota; skin permeation; erythema index; soothing and anti-reddening effect

#### 1. Introduction

The skin is the most significant interface between the human body and the environment. Exposure to UV B (UVB, wavelength of 280–320 nm) can generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the skin, exposing the biological tissue to oxidative stress [1], lipid peroxidation [2], chronic inflammation [3], and DNA damage [4–6], which can result in erythema, edema, and epidermal hyperplasia [7]. The skin is colonized by diverse commensal microbes composed of bacteria, fungi, viruses, archaea, and mites as a part of a network that is defined as SM that mediates essential physiological and pathological processes [8] and ensures its homeostasis contributing to the skin barrier function [9,10]. The skin microbes release enzymes involved in the stratum corneum renewal and desquamation process (proteases), lipidic film surface breakdown (lipases), and able to degrade urea (ureases). Moreover, the microbiota produces bacteriocins, biofilms [11,12], antimicrobial peptides [13,14], and indoles that inhibit many molds and yeasts [15]. The microbial

MDPI



OPEN ACCESS

Medicine, Kazakhstan

Ahmed R. Alsuwaidi.

Maria Oana Sasaran,

Zulvikar Syambani Ulhaq.

Malik Ibrahim, Indonesia

\*Correspondence:

Roberto Berni Canani berni@unina.it

Specialty section: This article was submitted to

Pediatric Gastroenterology,

Hepatology and Nutrition,

Received: 21 April 2021

Accepted: 05 July 2021

Published: 28 July 2021

Berni Canani R. Comeona M.

Paparo L. Cemera G. Bruno C.

Nocerino R, Carucci L, Giglio V, Amato F and Castaldo G (2021)

Age-Related Differences in the

Mediators of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in

Expression of Most Relevant

Human Respiratory and

Front. Pediatr. 9:697390. doi: 10.3389/loed.2021.697390

Gastrointestinal Tract.

Strisciuglio C, Zollo I, Gravina AG, Miele E, Cantone E, Gennarelli N,

Citation:

a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Reviewed by:

Nazarbayev University School of

United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

George Emil Palade University of

Medicine, Pharmacy, Sciences and

Universitas Islam Negeri Maulana

Technology of Tärgu Mureş, Romania

Edited by: Dimitri Poddiahe.



## Age-Related Differences in the Expression of Most Relevant Mediators of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Human Respiratory and Gastrointestinal Tract

Roberto Berni Canani <sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>, Marika Comegna<sup>2,5</sup>, Lorella Paparo<sup>1,2</sup>, Gustavo Cernera<sup>2,5</sup>, Cristina Bruno<sup>1,2</sup>, Caterina Strisciuglio<sup>6</sup>, Immacolata Zollo<sup>2,5</sup>, Antonietta Gerarda Gravina<sup>7</sup>, Erasmo Miele<sup>1</sup>, Elena Cantone<sup>8</sup>, Nicola Gennarelli<sup>9</sup>, Rita Nocerino<sup>1,2</sup>, Laura Carucci<sup>1,2</sup>, Veronica Giglio<sup>1,2</sup>, Felice Amato<sup>2,5</sup> and Giuseppe Castaldo<sup>2,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>2</sup> CEINGE-Biotecnologie Avanzate s.c.ar.l., University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>3</sup> European Laboratory for the Investigation of Food-Induced Diseases, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>4</sup> Task Force for Microbiome Studies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>6</sup> Department of Molecular Medicine and Medical Biotechnologies, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>6</sup> Department of Woman, Child and General and Specialistic Surgery, University of Campania "Luigi Varnviteli", Naples, Italy, <sup>7</sup> Division of Hepatogastroenterology, Department of Precision Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Varnviteli", Naples, Italy, <sup>8</sup> Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) Section, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>8</sup> Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

**Background:** Clinical features of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection seem to differ in children compared to that in adults. It has been hypothesized that the lower clinical severity in children could be influenced by differential expression of the main host functional receptor to SARS-CoV-2, the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), but data are still conflicting. To explore the origin of age-dependent clinical features of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), we comparatively evaluated the expression in children and adult subjects of the most relevant mediators of the SARS-CoV-2 infection: ACE2, angiotensin-converting enzyme 1 (ACE1), transmembrane serine protease-2 (TMPRSS2), and neuropilin-1 (NRP1), at upper respiratory tract and small intestine level.

**Methods:** The expression of ACE2, ACE1, TMPRSS2, and NRP1 in nasal epithelium and in small intestine epithelium was investigated by quantitative real-time PCR analysis. **Results:** We found no differences in ACE2, ACE1, and TMPRSS2 expression in the nasal epithelium comparing children and adult subjects. In contrast, nasal epithelium NRP1 expression was lower in children compared to that in adults. Intestinal ACE2 expression was higher in children compared to that in adults, whereas intestinal ACE1 expression was higher in adults. Intestinal TMPRSS2 and NRP1 expression was similar comparing children and adult subjects.

1



Article



### A New Butyrate Releaser Exerts a Protective Action against SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Human Intestine

Lorella Paparo <sup>1,2,\*</sup>, Maria Antonia Maglio <sup>1</sup>, Maddalena Cortese <sup>1,2</sup>, Cristina Bruno <sup>1,2</sup>, Mario Capasso <sup>2,3</sup>, Erika Punzo <sup>1,2</sup>, Veronica Ferrucci <sup>2,3</sup>, Vito Alessandro Lasorsa <sup>2</sup>, Maurizio Viscardi <sup>4</sup>, Giovanna Fusco <sup>4</sup>, Pellegrino Cerino <sup>4</sup>, Alessia Romano <sup>2</sup>, Riccardo Troncone <sup>1</sup> and Massimo Zollo <sup>2,3,4</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Dipartimento di Scienze Mediche Translazionali, Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", 80131 Napoli, Italy; mariantonia.maglio@unina.it (M.A.M.); Maddalenacortese95@hotmail.com (M.C.); cristinabruno88@libero.it (C.B.); pun.erika@gmail.com (E.P.); troncone@unina.it (R.T.)
- <sup>2</sup> CEINGE—Advanced Biotechnologies s.c.ar.l., Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", 80131 Napoli, Italy; mario.capasso@unina.it (M.C.); veronica.ferrucci@libero.it (V.F.); lasorsa.alessandro@email.com (V.A.L.): romanoa@ceinge.unina.it (A.R.): massimo.zollo@unina.it (M.Z.)
- <sup>3</sup> Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie Mediche (DMMBM), Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", 80131 Napoli, Italy
- <sup>4</sup> DAI Medicina di Laboratorio e Trasfusionale, AOU Azienda Ospedaliera, Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", 80131 Napoli, Italy; maurizioviscardi@gmail.com (M.V.); giovannafusco@gmail.com (G.F.); pellegrinocerino@gmail.com (P.C.)
- \* Correspondence: paparolorella@gmail.com

Abstract: Butyrate is a major gut microbiome metabolite that regulates several defense mechanisms against infectious diseases. Alterations in the gut microbiome, leading to reduced butyrate production, have been reported in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection. A new butyrate releaser, useful for all the known applications of butyrate, presenting physiochemical characteristics suitable for easy oral administration, (N-(1-carbamoyl-2-phenyl-ethyl) butyramide (FBA), has been recently developed. We investigated the protective action of FBA against SARS-CoV-2 infection in the human small intestine and enterocytes. Relevant aspects of SARS-CoV-2 infection were assessed: infectivity, host functional receptor angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2), transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2), neuropilin-1 (NRP1), pro-inflammatory cytokines expression, genes involved in the antiviral response and the activation of Nf-kB nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2-like) 2 (Nfr2) pathways. We found that FBA positively modulates the crucial aspects of the infection in small intestinal biopsies and human enterocytes, reducing the expression of ACE2, TMPRSS2 and NRP1, pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-15, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and  $TNF-\alpha$ , and regulating several genes involved in antiviral pathways. FBA was also able to reduce the number of SARS-CoV-2-infected cells, and ACE2, TMPRSS2 and NRPI expression. Lastly, through the inhibition of Nf-kB and the up-regulation of Nfr2, it was also able to reduce the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-15, MCP-1 and TNF-α in human enterocytes. The new butyrate releaser, FBA, exerts a preventive action against SARS-CoV-2 infection. It could be considered as an innovative strategy to limit COVID-19.

Keywords: COVID-19; viral infection; transmembrane protease serine 2; angiotensin-converting enzyme-2; intestinal models

#### 1. Introduction

There is a global pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) [1]. The gastrointestinal tract is a major target organ for SARS-CoV-2 infection, with many patients presenting with gastrointestinal symptoms, such as nausea/vomiting, diarrhea and abdominal pain. These symptoms are even more frequent in severe COVID-19 patients [2,3].



Citation: Paparo, L.; Maglio, M.A.; Cortese, M.; Bruno, C.; Capasso, M.; Punzo, E.; Ferrucci, V.; Lasorsa, V.A.; Viscardi, M.; Fusco, G.; et al. A New Butyrate Releaser Exerts a Protective Action against SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Human Intestine. *Molecules* 2022, 27, 862. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules27030862

Academic Editor: Raffaele Capasso

Received: 15 December 2021 Accepted: 25 January 2022 Published: 27 January 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).





### Baseline Concentrations of Various Immune Biomarkers Determine Their Increase after Consumption of a Postbiotic Based on Cow's Milk Fermented with *Lactobacillus paracasei* CBA L74 in Both Newborns and Young Children

Wim Calame <sup>1,\*</sup><sup>(D)</sup>, Dick van Olderen <sup>2,†</sup>, Veruska Calabretta <sup>2</sup>, Luca Bottari <sup>2</sup>, Lorella Paparo <sup>3,4</sup>(), Cristina Bruno <sup>3,4</sup>, Laura Carucci <sup>3,4</sup>(), Luana Voto <sup>3,4</sup>, Serena Coppola <sup>3,4</sup> and Andrea Budelli <sup>5</sup>

- StatistiCal B.V., Strandwal 148, 2241 MN Wassenaar, The Netherlands
- <sup>2</sup> KraftHeinz, Nieuwe Dukenburgse weg 19, 6534 AD Nijmegen, The Netherlands; veruska.calabretta@kraftheinz.com (V.C.); luca.bottari@kraftheinz.com (L.B.)
- Department of Translational Medical Science, University of Naples "Federico II", 80131 Naples, Italy; paparolorella@gmail.com (L.P.); cristinabruno@libero.it (C.B.); laura.carucci@outlook.it (L.C.); lvoto4@gmail.com (L.V.); sery.cop28@gmail.com (S.C.)
- ImmunoNutritionLab at CEINGE Advanced Biotechnologies Research Center, University "Federico II", 80131 Naples, Italy
- Dipartimento di Ingegneria Chimica, dei Materiali e della Produzione Industriale,
- University of Naples "Federico II", 80125 Naples, Italy; and rea.budelli@kraftheinz.com
- Correspondence: w.calame@kpnplanet.nl; Tel.: +31-(0)-628-700-732
- † Dick van Olderen passed away on 7 July 2021.

Abstract: Intake of a postbiotic product can support immunity depending on specific conditions of the consumer. The present study evaluates the potential impact of baseline values on the change of various immune factors ( $\alpha$ -defensin,  $\beta$ -defensin, cathelicidin, and secretory IgA) after three months of consumption of a postbiotic based on cow's milk fermented with *Lactobacillus paracasei* CBA L74 in a young population. For the analysis, raw data of three studies were used in a multivariate analysis applying confounding factors. One study in newborns demonstrated that intake of the postbiotic yielded an increase in the concentrations of  $\alpha$ -defensin and secretory IgA (at least p < 0.02), while for all factors, except  $\beta$ -defensin, the higher the baseline values the lower the increase (at least p < 0.02). Two combined studies in young children (aged 1–4 years) showed an increase in the concentration of all factors after intake of the postbiotic (at least p < 0.03), but now showing the higher the baseline values the higher the increase after three months (at least p < 0.02) in only the postbiotic group. It is concluded that consumption of the postbiotic leads to a baseline- and age-dependent increase in the concentrations of the immune factors under study in both newborns and young children. It is hypothesized that maturation of the immune system leads to different effects on optimizing host defense factors via this postbiotic intake.

Keywords: probiotic; postbiotic; human health; beneficial characteristics; Lactobacillus paracasei CBA L74; α-defensin; β-defensin; cathelicidin; secretory IgA



Copyright © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). 1. Introduction

Pre- and probiotics in food applications are well known for their beneficial effects for human health [1,2]. A relatively novel development in this area is the application of postbiotics [3]. The concept of postbiotics is defined as all gut microbiome (GM)-derived substances that confer a beneficial effect to the host and do not meet the pre-/probiotic definition. These GM-derived substances can comprise both microbial compounds and microbial metabolism (synthesis of metabolites and products from microbial fermentation of several foods) [4,5]. Microbial compounds include peptidoglycans, polysaccharides,

Appl. Sci. 2022, 12, 2009. https://doi.org/10.3390/app12042009

```
https://www.mdpi.com/journal/applsci
```

check for updates

Citation: Calame, W; van Olderen, D; Calabretta, V; Bottari, L; Paparo, L; Bruno, C.; Caracci, L; Voto, L; Coppola, S; Budelli, A. Baseline Concentrations of Various Immune Biomarkers Determine Their Increase after Consumption of a Postbiotic Based on Cow's Milk Fermented with *Lactobacillas paracasei* CBA L74 in Both Newborns and Young Children. Appl. Sci. 2022, 12, 2009. https:// doi.org/10.3390/app12042009

Academic Editor: Akikazu Sakudo

Received: 16 December 2021 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 15 February 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiiations.

